# Investigating the Preventative Potential of Bioactive Folates in Mitigating Spina Bifida with Hydrocephalus Comorbidity



By

Tooba Asif

(Registration No: 00000400577)

Atta Ur Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2024)

# Investigating the Preventative Potential of Bioactive Folates in Mitigating Spina Bifida with Hydrocephalus Comorbidity



By

Tooba Asif

(Registration No: 00000400577)

A thesis submitted to the National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad,

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Molecular Medicine

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Naila Naz

Atta Ur Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

(2024)

# FORM TH-4

# **MS THESIS WORK**

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by: Tooba Asif ref no: 400577.

Titled: Investigating the Preventative Potential of Bioactive Folates in Mitigating Spina Bifida with Hydrocephalus Comorbidity be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of <u>MS Degree in Molecular Medicine</u> degree with (<u>A</u>grade).

# **Examination Committee Members**

1. Name: Prof. Dr. Saadia Zahid

Department: Biomedicine, ASAB

Signature: Gentri Mich

- Name: Prof. Dr. Touqeer Ahmed
   Department: Biomedicine, ASAB
- Name: Prof. Dr. Saima Zafar
   Department: BMES, SMME

Supervisor's name: Prof. Dr. Naila Naz





21/10/2020

Date

# **COUNTERSIGNED**

A/Principal & Dean Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), NOST, Johnabad Dean/Principal

Date:



# **THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE**

.

Certified that the final copy of MS Thesis written by Ms. Tooba Asif (Registration No. 400577), of ASAB, NUST has been vetted by the undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/ Regulations/ Masters Policy, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of Masters degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as point out by GEC members and evaluators of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Dr. Naila Naz



Scanned with

#### **AUTHOR'S DECLARATION**

I, Tooba Asif, hereby state that my MS thesis titled "Investigating the Preventative Potential of Bioactive Folates in Mitigating Spina Bifida with Hydrocephalus Comorbidity" is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from the National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, or anywhere else in the country/ world.

At any time if my statement is found to be incorrect even after I graduate, the university has the right to withdraw my MS degree.

Name of Student: Tooba Asif

Date: 22-10-2024

# **CERTIFICATE FOR PLAGIARISM**

It is certified that the MS Thesis entitled "Investigating the Preventative Potential of Bioactive Folates in Mitigating Spina Bifida with Hydrocephalus Comorbidity" by Tooba Asif has been examined.

I undertake the following:

- a) The thesis has significant new work compared to what has already been published or is under consideration to be published. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph, or section has been copied verbatim from the previous one unless it is
- placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- b) The work presented is original and the author's own work.
- c) There is no fabrication of results or data that has been analyzed or compiled.
- d) There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment, processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.
- e) The thesis has been checked using Turnitin and found within the limits set as per HEC plagiarism policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Supervisor: JW Professor Dept. of Biomedicine ASAB - NUST, H-12, Islamabar Name of Supervisor Dr. Naila Naz

Date: 21-10-2024



### DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my beloved late father, to whom I owe all my success

and whose teachings and guidance always enlightened my path.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful.

All praise to Almighty Allah and His blessings, which helped me complete my thesis.

I am grateful to my esteemed supervisor, Prof. Dr. Naila Naz, for her guidance throughout my research. I am also thankful to my respected GEC members, Prof. Dr. Saadia Zahid (ASAB) and Prof. Dr. Touqeer Ahmed (ASAB), and my respected external GEC member, Prof. Dr. Saima Zafar (SMME, NUST). I am also thankful to Prof. Dr. Muhammad Asghar, Principal of Atta Ur Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), for giving me a chance to work as a researcher. I am also thankful to Associate Prof. Dr. Hussain Mustatab Wahedi, HOD Biomedicine, for providing me with research facilities. I deeply appreciate the Society for Research in Hydrocephalus and Spina Bifida (SRHSB) for their unwavering support and funding.

I want to thank my mother, whose constant love, support, and prayers helped me at every stage of my life. I would also like to thank my sister and best friend, Huma Asif, who constantly assisted me in all my academic matters and made life fun for me. A special thanks to my late father, whose advice and teachings have motivated me to move forward in life. I would also like to thank my friends Aqsa Mazhar and Fatima Baqir for their constant support and the best memories.

Tooba Asig

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VIII
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IX
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	XIII
ABSTRACT	XV
<ul> <li>CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION</li> <li>1.1 Background</li> <li>1.2 Prevalence and Prevention</li> <li>1.3 Problem Statement</li> <li>1.4 Research Objectives</li> <li>1.5 Scope and Expected Contributions</li> </ul>	1 1 3 4 4 5
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Neural Tube Defects (NTDs)	6
2.1.1 Spina Bifida	6
2.1.2 Arnold-Chiari Malformation Type II (ACM Type II)	7
2.1.3 Hydrocephalus	8
2.1.4 Folates and NTDs	8
2.1.5 Folates and Hydrocephalus	9
2.2 Folates	11
2.2.1 Cellular Functions of Folates	11
2.2.2 Folate Variants	11
2.2.3 One-Carbon Metabolism	13
2.3 Folate Supplements	14
2.3.1 Folic Acid (FA)	15
2.3.2 Bioactive Folates	16
2.4 Role of Folates during Pregnancy	17
2.5 Placental Folate Transport during Pregnancy	18
2.5.1 Folates in the Development of Neural Tube and Nervous System	19
2.6 Valproic Acid (VPA)	20
2.6.1 Kole of Folic Acid	21
2.6.2 Animal Model of Spina Bifida Using VPA	22
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS 3.1 Animals	24 24

3.2 Animal husbandry and breeding procedure:	24
3.3 Drugs and Drug Administration	25
3.3.1 Group I (Control)	25
3.3.2 Group II (Diseased)	25
3.3.3 Group III (Treatment 1: Folic Acid)	25
3.3.4 Group IV (Treatment 2: Folinic Acid)	25
3.3.5 Group V (Treatment 3: Folinic Acid+5 methyltetrahydrofolate)	26
3.4 Specimen and Tissue Collection	26
3.5 Histochemistry	26
3.6 Total Protein Extraction	27
3.7 Protein Determination and Western Blots	27
<b>3.8 Dot Blots</b>	28
3.9 Statistical Analysis	29
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	30
4.1 Changes in Litter Size	30
4.2 Changes in Gross Appearance	32
4.3 Changes in Spine and Brain Morphology	33
4.4 Changes in Cortical Cellular Density	35
4.5 Changes in Thickness of Cortical Layers	36
4.5.1 Marginal Zone	36
4.5.2 Cortical Plate	36
4.5.3 Sub Plate	36
4.5.4 Intermediate Zone	37
4.6 Folate Expression in CSF and Brain	39
4.7 Folate Receptor Expression in CSF and Brain	40
4.8 Methylation Status in the Brain	41
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	43
REFERENCES	49

### LIST OF TABLES

## Page No.

<b>Table 3.1:</b> Antibodies used in Western Blot and Dot Blot.	
<b>Table 4.1:</b> Number of Pregnant Rats and Average Litter Size	

### LIST OF FIGURES

# Page No.

Figure 1.1: Diagrammatic Illustration of Key Events in Folate Metabolism and Relationship among the Metabolites.	2
<b>Figure 2.1:</b> Diagrammatic Illustration of One-carbon Metabolism <b>Figure 2.2:</b> Mechanism of Folate in the Development of Neural Tube and the Nervou System.	14 s 20
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Average litter size across the five experimental groups.</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Gross appearance of the fetuses at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Representative images of the fetal spine at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.4: Representative images of the fetal brain at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.5: Representative images of fetal cortical cellular density at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.6: Representative images of the thickness of the fetal cortical layers at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.7: Differences in the thickness of the cortical layers in rat fetuses at E20.</li> <li>Figure 4.8: Dot blot analysis of fetal CSF and brain at E20.</li> </ul>	31 32 33 34 35 37 38 39
Figure 4.9: Western Blot of FOLR1 expression in fetal CSF at E20 Figure 4.10: Dot blot analysis of cerebral 5mC at E20 Figure 4.11: METTL3 expression in fetal brain at E20	40 41 42

# LIST OF SYMBOLS, ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

5-fTHF	5-formyl tetrahydrofolate
5-mC	5-methylcytosine
5-mTHF	5-methyl tetrahydrofolate
ACM	Arnold-Chiari Malformation
ALDH1L1	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
ANOVA	Analysis Of Variance
BHMT	Betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase
CBS	Cystathionine B-synthase
CNS	Central Nervous System
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DHF	Dihydrofolate
DHFR	Dihydrofolate reductase
E20	Embryonic day 20
FA	Folic Acid
FDH	10-formyl tetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase
FOLR1	Folate receptor alpha
FR	Folate Receptor
FRa	Folate Receptor A
GABA	Gamma amino butyric acid
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
Нсу	Homocysteine
НС	Hydrocephalus
HDAC	Histone deacetylase

LV	Lateral ventricle
MTHFR	Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase
MTR	Methionine synthase
NFDM	Non-Fat Dry Milk
NTDs	Neural Tube Defects
PABA	Para-aminobenzoic acid
PCFT	Proton-Coupled Folate Transporter
PFRs	Placental Folate Receptors
PNS	Peripheral Nervous System
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RFC	Reduced Folate Carrier
ROS	Reactive Oxidative Species
RT	Room Temperature
SAM	S-Adenosyl Methionine
SB	Spina Bifida
THF	Tetrahydrofolate
UMFA	Unmetabolized Folic Acid
VPA	Valproate or Valproic Acid

#### ABSTRACT

Folates are crucial in the entire process of pregnancy, and their deficiency can result in congenital diseases such as spina bifida (SB), which are often comorbid with hydrocephalus (HC). Maternal folic acid supplements can precipitate the incidence of hydrocephalus in neonates, and any fault in the folic acid metabolism can prevent the growing embryo from receiving the bioactive folates required for cellular processes. This highlights a need to look for something more promising than folic acid supplementations. We aimed to identify and compare the preventative impact of synthetic and bioactive maternal folate supplements on CNS in an animal model of SB-HC comorbidity generated through valproic acid. Three maternal folate supplements were selected: folic acid (synthetic folate), folinic acid (bioactive folate), and folinic acid+5-methyltetrahydrofolate (5-mTHF) (mixture of bioactive folates). The gross appearance and morphological study of the fetuses revealed hydrocephalus precipitation in the folic acid group, which was best prevented by the treatment of folinic acid+5-mTHF. Cerebral folate expression was increased, and methylation levels were decreased in the folic acid group. This indicates that the folates have not been utilized in the DNA and RNA methylation, which is necessary for cerebral development. The activity of cerebral folate receptor alpha was also reduced in the folic acid group. The best preventative effects regarding folate utilization, methylation, and folate receptor activity were observed in the case of folinic acid+5-mTHF. The data indicates that bioactive folates, especially a mixture of folinic acid and 5-mTHF, outperform synthetic folate in the prevention of SB-HC comorbidity.

Keywords: Spina bifida, Hydrocephalus, Folic acid, Bioactive folates, Folinic acid, 5-mTHF.

#### CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

Folate, also known as vitamin B9, is a group of water-soluble B9 vitamins that are a natural part of several foods, such as leafy green vegetables, legumes, and certain fruits (Naderi & House, 2018). Folic acid, a synthetic folate, is primarily utilized in medications and dietary supplements. It is the most oxidized folate form, and to be physiologically active in the body, it must be reduced (Blom et al., 2006). All natural and synthetic folates must be converted to 5-methyl tetrahydrofolate (5-mTHF), which is the circulating folate form, Figure 1.1. 5-mTHF is the most common physiological folate, readily accessible as a dietary component and without metabolization. It is most commonly delivered to peripheral tissues for cellular processes. 98% of all the folates in human plasma are present in the form of 5-mTHF (Page et al., 2017).

The primary biological function of folates is to act as coenzymes in one-carbon metabolism, which is critical for synthesizing nucleotides, methylation reactions, and amino acid metabolism (Ducker & Rabinowitz, 2017). These biological processes are vital for cellular growth and proliferation and the proper functioning of the nervous system. For this reason, folates are particularly essential during embryonic development, especially in the formation of neural tubes (Balashova et al., 2018). Folate deficiency before or during pregnancy is responsible for neural tube defects (NTDs) such as hydrocephalus and spina bifida in infants (Wald, 2022). Spina Bifida develops due to failure in the fusion of neural tubes at the spinal level during the third week of gestation, thus resulting in a portion of the spinal cord and its surrounding tissues being exposed (Botto et al., 1999). Spina bifida

varies widely concerning severity, from mild forms with little to no symptoms to severe forms associated with physical and neurological impairments (Apkon et al., 2014). Hydrocephalus secondary to spina bifida is most likely to occur in developing countries where maternal malnutrition and folate deficiency are common (Warf, 2011). Hydrocephalus is the abnormal accumulation of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) within the brain ventricles, which increases intracranial pressure and damages brain tissues. The unifying theory on how spina leads to hydrocephalus is that the Chiari II malformation is associated with the obstruction of CSF flow around the lower brain stem that leads to hydrocephalus (McLone & Knepper, 1989).



**Figure 1.1:** Diagrammatic Illustration of Key Events in Folate Metabolism and Relationship among the Metabolites.

DHFR= Dihydrofolate reductase, THF= Tetrahydrofolate, FDH= Folate dehydrogenase, TS= Thymidylate synthase, MTHFDH= Methyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (Cains et al., 2009).

#### **1.2** Prevalence and Prevention

NTDs such as spina bifida are among the most common neurological disorders in neonates (Christianson et al., 2006). The incidence of NTDs worldwide is two in every 1000 live births (Kancherla, 2023). In developing non-income countries, NTDs are responsible for 29% of neonatal deaths (Adeleye et al., 2010; de Paul Djientcheu et al., 2008). In Pakistan, there is no formal data available to indicate the prevalence of NTDs. However, some studies suggest it to be 12 to 14 cases per 1000 live births (Goswami et al., 2015; Saleem et al., 2010). Spina bifida comorbid with hydrocephalus presents a complex clinical challenge, as both conditions are reported to severely affect the individual's quality of life and functional abilities. (Bendt et al., 2020). Current treatment approaches primarily involve the management of symptoms through surgical and rehabilitative interventions (Blount et al., 2020). However, these methods do not tackle the underlying developmental deficiencies that contribute to these conditions.

The most effective preventative measure against NTDs in neonates is maternal folate supplementation before and during the pregnancy. Folate consumed by the mother is preferentially transported to the placenta, where it is supplied and absorbed by the growing embryo via a network of folate transporters and receptors (Yasuda et al., 2008). Folate supplementation rescues these conditions due to its potential to restore cell development in the neuroepithelium of the neural plate and neural fold. Folic acid is given to women of childbearing age as a dietary supplement. Folic acid supplementations have been shown to prevent up to 75% of NTD cases with the daily standard dose of 400mcg throughout the periconceptional period (Berry et al., 1999; Czeizel & Dudas, 1992; De Wals et al., 2007).

#### **1.3 Problem Statement**

Maternal folic acid supplementation has been proven to lessen the occurrence of NTDs for many years substantially (Blencowe et al., 2010; de Paul Djientcheu et al., 2008). However, an individual study has revealed that it can precipitate the incidence of hydrocephalus (Cains et al., 2009). Moreover, any disruption in normal folate metabolism or transport can prevent the fetus from receiving the bioactive form of folate even though the FA supplementation was given during the periconceptional period. Bioactive folates such as 5-mTHF deficiency are associated with increased homocysteine (Hcy) levels in the circulation that have been associated with multiple pregnancy-related issues such as recurrent pregnancy loss, NTDs, and premature birth (Serrano et al., 2018; Tinelli et al., 2019).

The rationale of the current research is to confirm the superior efficacy of natural and active folate forms to prevent congenital neural tube defects like spina bifida and associated comorbidity of hydrocephalus. While folic acid has shown effectiveness in averting these disorders, any disruption in folate metabolism that hinders the fetus from accessing the active folate form can lead to severe consequences. Hence, it is crucial to identify a secure alternative to mitigate the risk of these life-threatening disorders.

#### 1.4 Research Objectives

- To generate a non-genetic rat model of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity using valproic acid.
- To assess changes in fetal cerebral folate metabolism in a rat model of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity.

• To assess and compare the preventative impact of different maternal folate supplements on spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity.

#### **1.5** Scope and Expected Contributions

The current study will explore the therapeutic potential of bioactive folates, such as 5methyltetrahydrofolate (5-mTHF) and folinic acid, in an animal model to prevent spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity. Due to the complexity of these conditions, a controlled experimental setting using a rat model will be used to explore the effects of bioactive folates in a systematic and reproducible manner.

Folic acid has been proven effective in preventing neural tube defects such as spina bifida. However, it imposes the risk of precipitating the incidence of hydrocephalus. Moreover, any error in folate metabolism can deprive the fetus of the active form of folate, which will have drastic consequences. Hence, the notion is not the need for folate supplementation but which form of folate is to be given. Addressing this challenge is imperative, prompting the exploration of alternative active forms of folic acid that can efficiently bypass the intricacies of the folic acid cycle as well as have the capacity to reduce the incidence of both disorders at the same time. Hence, this study will serve as the first comparative assessment of bioactive folates in mitigating the incidence of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity.

#### **CHAPTER 2:** LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Neural Tube Defects (NTDs)

The most frequent and severe congenital abnormalities are neural tube defects (NTDs), which occur when the neural tube fails to close during embryogenesis. Neural tube development begins at day 16 of gestation when the neural plate is formed and ends with neural tube closure at about day 26-28. The neural tube serves as the predecessor to the central nervous system (CNS) and most of the peripheral nervous system (PNS). The etiology of NTDs is complicated, resulting from interactions between genetic abnormalities and environmental factors (Sever, 1995; Wallingford et al., 2013). The growing neural tube undergoes several processes, such as cell loss, neural crest cell migration, neuroepithelial proliferation, apical cytoskeletal microfilament contraction, and dorsolateral bending. If these developmental pathways do not occur during a critical period of embryogenesis, neural tube closure fails, and the embryo forms an NTD. Different types of NTDs include anencephaly, encephalocele, craniorachischisis, iniencephaly, and spina bifida.

#### 2.1.1 Spina Bifida

Spina bifida (SB), a congenital NTD, develops due to the failure of the neural tube to fuse at the spinal level during the third week of gestation. Spina bifida is further differentiated into four defect-specified subclasses: occulta, closed spinal dysraphism, meningocele, and myelomeningocele. The first kind of spina bifida, occulta, is an asymptomatic, closed NTD caused by a vertebral abnormality that allows for an opening in the spinal column. A layer of skin often covers the defect and may be accompanied by a hairy patch or dimple. Closed spinal dysraphism, the second kind of spina bifida, is another closed NTD characterized by a lack of at least two vertebral arches as well as fat, bone, or meningeal abnormalities that cover the spinal cord. The third kind of spina bifida is meningocele, which is a closed NTD caused by the extrusion of a meningeal-enclosed pocket of cerebrospinal fluid through the posterior vertebrae or skull. A meningocele lacks all neural components within the extrusion and might be visible or covered with skin. Myelomeningocele, the fourth kind of spina bifida, can be an open or closed NTD caused by the extrusion of the meninges, neural components, and cerebrospinal fluid through the posterior vertebrae, which may or may not be surrounded by the meninges (Copp et al., 2015). Myelomeningocele is the frequent and severe form of spina bifida, as the protruding neural tissues are exposed to amniotic fluid. SB is generally not only limited to the spinal cord but in 85-95% of cases, infants with SB also have a comorbid brain defect (Briner & Lieske, 1995). Spina bifida is frequently associated with conditions such as corpus callosum agenesis, cortical migration problems, hydrocephalus, Chiari malformation type II, vertebral abnormalities, and various genitourinary and gastrointestinal issues (Greene & Copp, 2014).

#### 2.1.2 Arnold-Chiari Malformation Type II (ACM Type II)

Arnold-Chiari Malformation Type II (ACM Type II) is a severe congenital brain and spinal anomaly that is closely related to spina bifida, especially to the myelomeningocele (Mahajan, 2021). This condition is characterized by the cerebellar tonsils, vermis, and brainstem being displaced downwards through the foramen magnum into the spinal canal. The malformation usually leads to a range of neurological abnormalities, such as hydrocephalus. The open connection between the spinal cord and the surrounding tissues in SB results in a tethering effect, which affects the downward development of brain structures, causing herniation. This displacement can compress the brainstem as well as the upper spinal cord in one way or another, destabilizing the normal CSF dynamics and leading to a series of pathological processes.

#### 2.1.3 Hydrocephalus

Hydrocephalus (HC) refers to the accumulation of CSF in the ventricles and spaces around the brain. HC is associated with an increase in intracranial pressure due to an imbalance in CSF production, absorption, and drainage (Naz et al., 2016). Spina bifida in the presence of ACM is one of the most significant causes of hydrocephalus. The downward displacement of cerebellar tonsils, brainstem, and fourth ventricle through the foramen magnum can obstruct the flow of CSF (Fons & Jnah, 2021). The compression of the fourth ventricle hinders the CSF flow from the ventricular system into the subarachnoid space, which leads to CSF accumulation within the ventricles. This obstruction produces a distal flow block as the choroid plexus is still producing CSF. However, it cannot be efficiently drained, which results in a progression of ventricular dilation and intracranial pressure, which are hallmarks of hydrocephalus (Thomale, 2021).

#### 2.1.4 Folates and NTDs

Maternal nutrition plays a significant role in the complicated etiology of NTDs. Using folic acid supplements during preconception reduces the incidence of NTD-affected pregnancies (Blom et al., 2006). The lack of folate and its metabolites stops the proliferation and migration of neural tissue during neurulation, which leads to NTDs (Isaković et al., 2022). Although the majority of NTD cases are caused by a lack of dietary folate in the absence

of proper supplementation, some pregnant women may still give birth to children with NTDs due to genetic changes in folate metabolism, even if they receive adequate folate supplementation before and during pregnancy. Defects in folate metabolism include the MTHFR C677T gene mutation, which reduces the activity of enzymes essential for folate metabolism, hence lowering blood folate levels (Yang et al., 2015). Exogenous folate antagonists, such as phenytoin, carbamazepine, and other antiepileptic medications, restrict folate absorption or promote folate breakdown. Other antagonists, such as methotrexate, sulfasalazine, and trimethoprim, reduce the activity of DHFR, preventing folate from transforming into active metabolites (Hernández-Díaz et al., 2000). This promotes aberrant apoptosis of neural tissue, which contributes to NTD formation.

Maternal immune responses are thought to alter folate transport, which may impact embryonic development. Rothenberg et al. identified auto-antibodies to the folate receptor in 75% of women who had given birth to NTD-affected babies, compared to just 10% of mothers who had normal infants (Rothenberg et al., 2004). The difference in frequency was associated with a more than 25-fold increase in the incidence of NTDs in babies of women who had these antibodies. This suggests that maternal auto-antibodies that bind to the folate receptor and interfere with folate absorption by target epithelial cells may induce NTDs. This can explain the benefit of periconceptional folate supplementation.

#### 2.1.5 Folates and Hydrocephalus

Folate is considered to be an essential factor in the development of a normal brain. This developmental process depends on the supply and transport of the correct folate forms. Any impairment in folate metabolism can lead to hydrocephalus in infants.

FDH is a folate-binding protein that is secreted into the CSF in the brain, where it transports the folate toward the developing cerebral cortex through the fluid (Cains et al., 2009). A study by (Naz et al., 2016) discovered that a lack of FDH causes the inaccessibility of available forms of folate in CSF for the cells in the cortex. The study also established that either tetrahydrofolate (THF) or 5-formyl tetrahydrofolate (5fTHF) supplementation or both in synergy can prevent hydrocephalus and improve the development of the brain in a rat model.

5mTHF is needed in the brain at the choroid plexus and neuroepithelia during the process of differentiation. This was confirmed in a study by (Naz et al., 2016), where 5mTHF was found to be localized in vesicles with FDH and FR $\alpha$  in the lateral ventricle (LV). Such vesicles were also described by (Bachy et al., 2008; Harrington et al., 2009), which transport FDH-5mTHF and FR $\alpha$ -5mTHF complexes to various parts of the brain.

Nuclear folate, a critical cofactor, plays an important role in the synthesis, repair, and methylation of DNA (YOON et al., 1976). The first product of DNA methylation is 5mC, which is involved in gene regulation. A study by (Naz et al., 2016) found that the nuclear FDH was linked to low or none of the nuclear folate and an increased expression of 5mC, which is suggestive of folate transport into the nucleus via FDH and its utilization in DNA methylation. The study showed reduced nuclear FDH in the hydrocephalic rats with an increase in nuclear folate. It diminished 5mC which indicated a failure of DNA methylation due to a lack of FDH even though the folates were present. This establishes the critical requirement of FDH for DNA methylation, as its reduction or absence will reduce the DNA methylation even with the presence of folates, which will remain unused in the nucleus of the cells.

#### 2.2 Folates

Folate is a broad term for a group of water-soluble B-complex vitamins, also known as vitamin B9. The term folate originated from the Latin word folium, meaning leaf; hence, folates are abundant in green leafy foods (Ifergan & Assaraf, 2008). Folates are present in different forms within the cell that can be interconverted via multiple complex biochemical reactions catalyzed by numerous enzymes (Wagner, 2001).

#### 2.2.1 Cellular Functions of Folates

Folate is a rate-limiting vitamin involved in many cellular processes, such as DNA biosynthesis and methylation, protein and lipid methylation, the urea cycle, and the biosynthesis of neurotransmitters (Lucock, 2000; McKay et al., 2004)Folate is fundamental for accurate DNA synthesis due to its involvement in the synthesis of purines and pyrimidines. It is also critical in genome regulation and development as it provides one carbon required in the methylation of DNA.

#### 2.2.2 Folate Variants

Folate molecules share a standard central structure that consists of three chemical moieties: a pteridine ring, which is able to oxidize or reduce; a central para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA), which, along with the pteridine ring, forms the attachment sites for 1C units, and a polyglutamate chain which determines the molecule length and its intracellular localization. (Ducker & Rabinowitz, 2017). Tetrahydrofolate consists of a reduced pteridine and thus is the physiologically active form of folate. The reduced folate form, typically 5-mTHF, is naturally present in the diet and the body in humans (Wright et al.,

2007). The bioavailability and metabolism of folate variants depend on their chemical composition. The folate group contains structurally similar substances such as folic acid (FA), 5-mTHF, and natural folates (Carboni, 2022). FA is the oxidized and monoglutamate folate that was primarily synthesized as pure crystals in the 1940s. It is included in dietary supplements and foods such as cereals, pasta, bread, and fruit juice. Folic acid is an artificial form of folate that cannot perform any biological processes. In order to exert its biological activity in the human body, it is reduced first to dihydrofolate (DHF) and then tetrahydrofolate (THF) so that it can enter the folate cycle. Food contains natural folates, as do various artificial polyglutamate forms. In the gut, food folates are first hydrolyzed to mono glutamate and then, through active transport, are absorbed across the intestinal mucosa. As a result, before it enters the circulation, the dietary folate is reduced to tetrahydrofolate (THF) and then methylated (5-mTHF). The bioactive form 5-mTHF is the most common folate present in blood as well as in the umbilical cord blood. It is readily accessible as a dietary component and does not need further metabolization. As a result, it is the form most commonly delivered to cells for cellular processes. 5-mTHF makes up for around 98% of the folate in human plasma (Page et al., 2017).

Aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH1L1) or 10-formyl tetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase (FDH) is the central enzyme of folate metabolism and mainly exerts its expression in the brain and liver (Krupenko & Oleinik, 2002). FDH is critical for the maintenance of folate levels and the balance of folate metabolism, (CHAMPIoN et al., 1994).

#### 2.2.3 One-Carbon Metabolism

One-carbon metabolism refers to a complicated metabolic system based on the biochemical interconversion of folate molecules. Folic acid functions as a one-carbon metabolic hub, activating and transferring methyl groups for the synthesis of purine and thymidine (Locasale, 2013). One-carbon metabolism consists of the folate and homocysteine pathways. Folic acid in plasma reaches tissue cells via folate receptor (FR), and dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) converts it to tetrahydrofolate Figure 2.1. Next, tetrahydrofolate is converted to 5. 10-methylenetetrahydrofolate. Then, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) transforms 5. 10methylenetetrahydrofolate into 5-mTHF, which provides a methyl group for methionine synthase (MTR) to catalyze the homocysteine conversions into methionine. This step requires a cofactor of vitamin B12. 5-mTHF can enter the cells via a reduced folate carrier (RFC). An end-product of choline oxidative metabolism is betaine, which provides a substitute methyl donor for the betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase (BHMT)catalyzed methylation of homocysteine reaction. Cysteine is formed by cystathionine  $\beta$ synthase (CBS) through the action of vitamin B6 as a coenzyme in the transfer-sulfuration pathway (Obeid & Herrmann, 2012). 5-mTHF donates a methyl group in the remethylation pathway, where Hcy is methylated to methionine by methionine synthase, with vitamin B12 acting as a cofactor (Obeid & Herrmann, 2012). Methionine further converts to Sadenosyl methionine (SAM), which is a critical methyl donor and a common cofactor involved in several epigenetic and biosynthetic processes (Su et al., 2016). The crosslinking of folate and the homocysteine cycle causes an inverse relation between the levels of Hcy and folate.



Figure 2.1: Diagrammatic Illustration of One-carbon Metabolism.

FR (folate receptor); RFC (reduced folate carrier); 5-mTHF (5-methyl-tetrahydrofolate); MTHFR (methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase); DHFR (dihydrofolate reductase); BMT (betaine–

homocysteine methyltransferase); CBS (cystathionine  $\beta$ -synthase); MTR (methionine synthase) (He & Li, 2023).

#### 2.3 Folate Supplements

Folate supplementation can reverse DNA hypomethylation, indicating folate's effect on DNA methylation (Pufulete et al., 2005). Abnormal DNA methylation causes various diseases, including neurological conditions (Urdinguio et al., 2009). Cerebral folate deficiency is associated with a variety of neurological disorders, such as hydrocephalus (HC) and neural tube defects (NTDs), including spina bifida (SB) and exencephaly.

#### 2.3.1 Folic Acid (FA)

Folic acid is commonly used as a dietary supplement and to fortify food because of its low cost, high thermostability, and significant bioavailability (Molloy, 2002). However, folic acid does not have a coenzyme function, and it must be converted into the metabolically active form, tetrahydrofolate, within cells. The enzyme dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) first reduces FA to dihydrofolate, which is subsequently converted to tetrahydrofolate. This is a rate-limiting phase, resulting in low DHFR activity in humans, with significant inter-individual variation.

#### 2.3.1.1 Side Effects of Folic Acid (FA)

High FA dosages can cause fast saturation or inhibit the activity of the DHFR enzyme, which leads to the buildup of unmetabolized FA (UMFA) and UMFA syndrome (Scaglione & Panzavolta, 2014). Furthermore, some persons have genetic variants that reduce the activity of DHFR. UMFA competes with natural folate (5-mTHF) for the folate transporter and receptor, reducing the activity of bioactive folates in metabolic cycles. A study found that 86% of UMFA in the hepatic portal vein, while practically all bioactive folate is successfully converted (Patanwala et al., 2014; Pietrzik et al., 2010). UMFA has been found in the umbilical cord and baby blood, raising concerns about potential health risks in neonates (Menezo et al., 2022; Sweeney et al., 2005).

Genetic polymorphisms of methyltetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) can decrease the subsequent metabolization of dietary folates and folic acid into 5-mTHF. MTHFR is eminently polymorphic in the general population, with several MTHFR gene variations found. Today, 35 uncommon but detrimental MTHFR mutations, polymorphisms, and nine

common variations have been identified. The two most prevalent are A1298C and C677T. A polymorphic MTHFR enzyme may work partially at 55% to 70% efficiency in comparison to a normal MTHFR enzyme. Globally, around 40% of individuals have an MTHFR polymorphism. This polymorphism is linked to an increase in thermolability and a decrease in the specific activity of MTHFR in vivo, which results in 65% residual enzyme activity for heterozygous carriers and just 30% for homozygous carriers (van der Put et al., 1998; Verhoef et al., 2017).

#### 2.3.2 Bioactive Folates

Bioactive folate supplementation of 5-mTHF avoids the complete folate cycle, which may be affected by the MTHFR polymorphism. In this case, 5-mTHF is directly absorbed and utilized in biological processes. As a result, adopting 5-mTHF as a dietary supplement rather than FA is strongly advised (Scaglione & Panzavolta, 2014). Supplementation with 5-mTHF does not appear to create UMFA since it is immediately utilized by cells and undergoes the one-carbon metabolism necessary for DNA synthesis and red blood cell formation (Servy et al., 2018). Bailey et al. confirmed this discovery, demonstrating that 5-mTHF allows folate utilization more rapidly and evenly than folic acid and without the production of UMFA (Bailey & Ayling, 2018). Some studies have investigated the response of 5-mTHF supplementation on people with MTHFR polymorphisms. Prinz-Langenohl et al. found that the MTHFR gene polymorphism did not affect 5-mTHF supplementation (Prinz-Langenohl et al., 2009). Other studies demonstrate that 5-mTHF supplementation can alleviate folate deficiencies caused by MTHFR deficiency (Litynski et al., 2002; Vidmar Golja et al., 2020). Disregarding the source of 5-mTHF, methyl folate, along with vitamin B12, enters the onecarbon cycle. One carbon cycle is a network of interconnected biochemical events that occur in all of the body's cells and is necessary for a variety of cellular processes. Low levels of 5-mTHF disrupt one-carbon metabolism, significantly contributing to an increase in the levels of circulating homocysteine (Hcy) and toxic buildup in the circulation (Tinelli et al., 2019). Prolonged exposure to Hcy, also known as hyperhomocysteinemia, is known to damage blood vessels, causing blood clots, leading to the development of cardiovascular illness, as well as neuronal diseases. Healthy blood vessels and levels of folate are required for conception and pregnancy. Excessive Hcy can make it challenging to conceive and sustain a pregnancy (Blom & Smulders, 2011). Many studies have found that hyperhomocysteinemia is linked to a variety of pregnancy issues, including recurrent pregnancy loss, NTDs, preeclampsia, premature birth, placental abruption, fetal growth restriction, and gestational diabetes mellitus (Serrano et al., 2018; Yadav et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2020). Cawley et al. also discovered that newborn birth weight and mother Hcy levels were adversely associated (Cawley et al., 2020).

#### 2.4 Role of Folates during Pregnancy

Folate plays a vital role in cell development, division, synthesis, and DNA repair. During pregnancy, folate needs to rise not just to promote fetal development and growth of maternal tissue but also to lower the risk of low birth weight, preterm birth, high Hcy levels, and other adverse pregnancy issues. The recommendation is to take folate three months ahead of conceiving and for the first three months of pregnancy to avoid neural tube defects (NTDs) in neonates. NTDs are developed in the first 28 days of pregnancy (van der Put et al., 1998). Pregnant women with MTHFR gene variants are at higher risk to develop a

variety of birth abnormalities due to an inability to metabolize FA. Furthermore, increased Hcy due to folate insufficiency is another risk factor for a variety of pregnancy-related conditions.

The placenta is responsible for concentrating folates in the fetal circulation (Giugliani et al., 1985; Thorand et al., 1996). Therefore, the level of folates in the umbilical cord is retained even when the levels of maternal folate are low (Wallace et al., 2008). Placental folate receptors (PFRs), namely FR- $\alpha$ , in the syncytiotrophoblast's microvillus membrane facilitate folate transport across the placenta (Bisseling et al., 2004). Maternal folates bind to FR- $\alpha$  with high affinity and are internalized via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Keating et al., 2009). Other transporters, such as the reduced folate carrier (RFC) and the proton-coupled folate transporter (PCFT), play critical roles in folate absorption in the placenta (Prasad et al., 1995). This leads to an increased intervillous blood folate content in the placenta, which may be delivered to the fetus via passive diffusion and the RFC (Henderson et al., 1995). This transport system is developed during the first trimester of pregnancy (Solanky et al., 2010).

#### 2.5 Placental Folate Transport during Pregnancy

The placenta acts as a protective barrier that provides a site for nutrients and waste exchange between the mother and the fetus through transporters (Baumann et al., 2002; Cetin, 2003). Folate receptor  $\alpha$  (FR $\alpha$ ) is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked glycoprotein that binds folates with high affinity at the surface of the membrane and regulates the unidirectional flux after the internalization of the receptor-folate complex (Antony et al., 1985; Sabharanjak & Mayor, 2004). Reduced folate carrier (RFC/SLC19A1) binds to a

membrane transporter to regulate internalization through membranes, which in turn mediates a bidirectional flux (Ganapathy et al., 2004). These are pH-sensitive carriers and are expressed in the intestine as well as in the placenta (Damaraju et al., 2005; Rajgopal et al., 2001). The placenta develops during a short time, and with the progress of gestation, its function changes. The levels of expression of the transporters that transfer the nutrients and waste between the mother and the fetus vary throughout the pregnancy (Novak et al., 2006; Yamaguchi et al., 1996).

Yasuda et al. (2008) confirmed the involvement of FR $\alpha$  and RFC in the transport of folates from maternal blood to placental villi as the RFCs are localized on the apical side of the villi. FR  $\alpha$  and RFC showed involvement in folate transport in the placental brush border membranes; however, not all folate transport was mediated by these two. HCP1 is another proton-coupled, pH-sensitive folate in the placenta that regulates the folate transport mechanism (Qiu et al., 2006; Yasuda et al., 2008).

#### 2.5.1 Folates in the Development of Neural Tube and Nervous System

Folate is significantly involved in the development and maturing of the neural tube and nervous system in the embryo. Folate is transported into the neural cells through the folate receptor 1 (FOLR1) or reduced folate carrier (RFC) Figure 2.2. Once inside the cell, folate is utilized in the biosynthesis of DNA and RNA, DNA repair, and one-carbon metabolism. These cellular processes are required for the division of neural cells during embryogenesis, a period of rapid growth and neural tissue repair. Folates interact with their receptors and trigger a specific signaling cascade that is responsible to shape the neural plate during the

formation of the neural tube. It also mediates the synaptic activity, thus facilitating neural function (Balashova et al., 2018).



Figure 2.2: Role of Folates in the Development of Neural Tube and the Nervous System.

RFC= Reduced folate carrier (Balashova et al., 2018).

#### 2.6 Valproic Acid (VPA)

Valproate or valproic acid (VPA) is an anti-epileptic drug used to treat all forms of seizures (Romoli et al., 2019). VPA is also used to manage other neurological diseases, such as headaches, migraine, bipolar disorder, psychological disturbances, and neuropathic pain (Tomson et al., 2016)Valproate's anti-convulsant action is due to an increase in the synaptic level of gamma amino butyric acid (GABA), which inhibits the production of action potentials. VPA also blocks the sodium and calcium channels, reducing seizures. The therapeutic formulations of VPA are available as tablets, capsules, oral solutions, and intravenous injections.

Valproate is a short-chain, branched fatty acid derived from natural valeric acid. Consumption of valproic acid to control seizures during pregnancy is associated with teratogenesis in neonates, as VPA can cross the placental barrier and disrupt the normal process of organogenesis (Shakya et al., 2020). VPA can induce a wide range of congenital disorders, such as limb anomalies, exencephaly, lip and palate cleft, craniofacial cleft, fused ribs, fused vertebrae, and spina bifida (Hughes et al., 2018; Tanoshima et al., 2015). Teratogenic effects of valproate are produced due to an increase in apoptosis that leads to an imbalance between cell proliferation and cell death (Manthou et al., 2020). Oxidative stress due to the overproduction of reactive oxidative species (ROS) and mitochondrial and lysosomal dysfunction is associated with a decrease in cell viability (Salimi et al., 2022). VPA can interfere with the polycomb group proteins that modulate the chromatin structure during normal fetal development, which can lead to teratogenicity (Okada, Aoki, et al., 2004). VPA also causes restricted intrauterine growth and a low number of live births due to post-implantation losses (Lin et al., 2019).

#### 2.6.1 Role of Folic Acid

Folic acid is critical for normal metabolic and biochemical processes in the human body, such as cellular growth, gene regulation, production of red and white blood cells, renewal of epithelium, and synthesis of chemicals that regulate brain function (Gazzali et al., 2016)Folic acid is especially needed during embryogenesis for the normal development of tissues associated with rapid cell division.

A study by Rahman and Madkour (2023) co-administered FA with VPA in mice during the gestation period, which resulted in a significant improvement against all the adverse
effects of VPA (Rahman & Madkour, 2023). FA can cross the placental barrier to promote the normal development of the fetus during organogenesis (Ebara, 2017). FA negates the teratogenic effect of VPA by alleviating the oxidative stress caused by VPA (Hsieh et al., 2012). FA also mitigates the inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC), an enzyme required for normal DNA replication, caused by VPA (Dawson et al., 2006). The protective effect of FA was attributed to its ability to improve the closure of lumbosacral neural folds by promoting normal neurogenesis and stem cell proliferation. FA also suppresses VPAinduced apoptosis, preserves neuroplasticity and neuronal function in the area of the growing spinal cord, and supports appropriate histogenesis of the developing vertebral arches of the vertebral column (Ichi et al., 2010). Folic acid supplementation during early pregnancy enhances the growth of the fetus and placenta by increasing cell proliferation, DNA and RNA production, and amino acid metabolism (Papadopoulou et al., 2013).

## 2.6.2 Animal Model of Spina Bifida Using VPA

Several animal models of SB have been developed using various teratogens, such as vitamin A, trypan blue, retinoid, and folic acid antagonists. The first successful and reliable animal model of SB was developed in mice through the administration of valproic acid during the period of neural tube development (Ehlers et al., 1992). (Briner & Lieske, 1995) replicated this model in rats by treating the animals with 1200 mg/kg of VPA at day 10 of gestation. The VPA treatment caused the vertebral arches to widen. The embryotoxicity of VPA was also observed as the litter size got smaller with the high dose of VPA. Rat fetuses treated with VPA also produced Arnold-Chiari malformation (ACM). The animals, however, did not exhibit the hydrocephalus that is associated with ACM as in humans, which might be due to the inability of their hindbrains to be rotated ventrally as in humans.

This could result in the drainage of CSF even if the contents of the posterior fossa were crowded in the rats.

VPA administration during the early gestation period is attributed to faulty osteogenesis and chondrogenesis of skull bones and cartilage. Intrauterine exposure to VPA can also cause spina bifida as it interferes with the spinal neural groove closure and prevents the fusion of vertebral arches (Ceylan et al., 2001). VPA can induce skeletal malformations as it alters gene expression, leading to abnormal development of intra-embryonic mesoderm (Okada, Kurihara, et al., 2004). Alteration of gene expression of placental transporters due to VPA can lead to defective transport of nutrients and gases across the placenta to the fetus, which causes growth restrictions and fetal death (Jinno et al., 2020).

# CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 3.1 Animals

Female and male rats of the Sprague-Dawley strain were used to generate the animal model. The rats, female and male, were obtained from the animal house (National Institute of Health, Islamabad) with an average weight of 200g and about 10-12 weeks of age.

## 3.2 Animal husbandry and breeding procedure:

The ethical approval for performing experiments and animal handling was approved by the Internal Review Board of Atta Ur Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, National University of Science and Technology, Islamabad. All the experiments were conducted according to the ethical guidelines provided by the Laboratory Animal House (LAH), Atta ur Rahman Scholl of Applied Biosciences, National University of Science and Technology, Islamabad. They were kept in the animal house for a week to acclimate before mating. The female rats were divided randomly into five groups: Group I, "Control"; Group II, "Diseased"; Group III, "Treatment 1 (Folic Acid)"; Group IV, "Treatment 2 (Folinic Acid)"; and Group V, "Treatment 3 (Folinic Acid+ 5 methyltetrahydrofolate)". The rats were provided with the standard feed and tap water. The animals were housed in a suitable room maintained at  $25\pm 1$  °C with 12 hours of darkness and 12 hours of artificial light. Female rats from each group were mated with males of the same age and strain for 36 hours. The animals were examined for the presence of a copulatory plug, and the first 24 hours after conception was allotted embryonic day 0, with the following calendar day as embryonic day 1. After mating, the females were removed and housed separately.

# **3.3 Drugs and Drug Administration**

### 3.3.1 Group I (Control)

The female rats received a standard diet and tap water and were administered sterile saline at embryonic day 10 (E10).

# 3.3.2 Group II (Diseased)

The female rats received 600 mg/kg sodium valproate via subcutaneous injection once in the morning and once in the evening, with an interval of 7 hours, for a total dose of 1200 mg/kg (Briner & Lieske, 1995).

### 3.3.3 Group III (Treatment 1: Folic Acid)

Along with sodium valproate, the female rats were also administered a subcutaneous dose of 2.25mg/kg folic acid in an aqueous solution one week before mating and throughout pregnancy (Cains et al., 2009).

## 3.3.4 Group IV (Treatment 2: Folinic Acid)

Along with sodium valproate, the female rats were also administered a subcutaneous dose of 2.25mg/kg folinic acid in an aqueous solution one week before mating and throughout pregnancy (Cains et al., 2009).

Along with sodium valproate, the female rats were also administered a subcutaneous dose of 2.25mg/kg, an equal mixture of folinic acid and 5 methyltetrahydrofolate in an aqueous solution one week before mating and throughout pregnancy (Cains et al., 2009).

## 3.4 Specimen and Tissue Collection

On embryonic day 20 (E20), dams were sacrificed, and their abdomens were opened to collect fetuses. The litter size for each group was observed. The fetuses were examined for changes in their gross appearance and external malformations. In terms of specimen and tissue collection, the total litter was divided into two sections. The fetuses in the first section were preserved in a solution of 10% formalin in 0.1M phosphate buffer until being examined for internal malformations. The fetuses in the second section were first subjected to CSF collection via lumbar puncture using a glass capillary and then dissected to harvest the brains. The brains were treated with liquid nitrogen and later preserved at -80°C for protein analysis.

## 3.5 Histochemistry

Histochemistry was performed using hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stain on 15-20  $\mu$ m sagittal section of fetuses to demonstrate the changes in brain and spine morphology as well as in the ventricular size and cortical thickness. The changes in brain and spine morphology were observed under 40X magnification, and images were captured. The ventricular size and cortical thickness were examined under 100X magnification, and

images were captured. The ventricular size and thickness of cortical layers, marginal zone, cortical plate, sub-plate, and intermediate zone were measured using ImageJ software.

### **3.6** Total Protein Extraction

Total protein was extracted from the brain tissues of fetuses using RIPA buffer (50 Tris HCl, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholate, 1% Tween 20, 150mM NaCl, and 1mM EDTA) with 1mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (PMSF) (bioworld) protease inhibitor. Brain tissues were homogenized using a Hielscher homogenizer and centrifuged at 16000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. The supernatant was collected and stored at -20°C.

## **3.7** Protein Determination and Western Blots

Protein concentration was determined using a Nanodrop instrument (Titertek-Berthold). A concentration of 50 µg of protein was loaded into each well of 12% (w/v) polyacrylamide 10 well Mini-PROTEAN Tetra cell (BIO-RAD) for SDS PAGE electrophoresis. Protein wet transfer was carried out using the Mini Trans-Blot cell (BIO-RAD) for 90 min. The PVDF membrane was stained with Ponceau solution for 15-20 seconds to verify the success of the transference. The membrane was washed 3×15 min with 1x TBS-Tween 20. For the western blot, the membrane was blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 1x TBST for one hour at room temperature (RT). The primary antibodies (Table 1) were diluted in 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 1x TBS-Tween 20. Primary antibody incubation was performed overnight at 4°C on a rotating shaker. The membrane was washed with 1x TBS-Tween 20 for 4×15 min with shaking at room temperature. Secondary antibodies were diluted with 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 1x TBS-Tween 20. Secondary antibody

incubation was carried out for one hour at room temperature with shaking. The membrane was washed with 1x TBS-T for  $4 \times 15$  min with shaking at room temperature.

Antibody	Company	Catalogue No.	Dilution
	Western Blot		
Anti-rabbit FR alpha	proteintech®	29472-1-AP	1: 5000
Anti-mouse METTL3	proteintech®	67733-1-IG	1: 5000
	Dot Blot		
Anti-mouse 5mC	proteintech®	68301-1-IG	1: 5000
Anti-rabbit Folic Acid	Cloud-Clone Corp.	PAA610Ge01	1: 5000

**Table 3.1:** Antibodies used in Western Blot and Dot Blot.

### **3.8 Dot Blots**

Dot blot was performed for folic acid on the brain protein sample and 5-methylcytosine (5mC) on the brain protein sample. A PVDF membrane was first activated in methanol for 5 minutes at 4°C and then air dried at room temperature. Folic acid and 5-methylcytosine (5mC) were analyzed by dot blot for the qualitative analysis of the differential concentration of these compounds across the five experimental groups. 2µl of each sample containing 50µg protein concentration was pipetted onto pre-determined locations on the

PVDF membrane and air dried. Membranes were blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 1x TBS-Tween 20 for one hour. Membranes were washed for 3×15 min with 1x TBS-T. The membranes were incubated with primary antibodies (Table 1) at 4°C overnight. Membranes were washed for 3×15 min with 1x TBS-T and then incubated with secondary antibody for one hour. Both primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in the 5% non-fat dry milk (NFDM) in 1x TBS-Tween 20. All the steps were performed with continuous shaking on a rocking table.

An ECL kit (SuperSignal <sup>TM</sup> West Pico PLUS Chemiluminescent Substrate) by thermoscientific was used to expose the membranes for both western and dot blot. Results were obtained using the chemidoc instrument (company) and were recorded using ImageLab 5.2.

## 3.9 Statistical Analysis

Western blot and dot blot quantification were performed using the Image J software. Multiple comparisons for mean comparisons between the five groups were made using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GraphPad Prism 8.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

# 4.1 Changes in Litter Size

The number of pregnant rats in each group and their average litter size are described in Table 4.1. Figure 4.1 illustrates the difference in the litter size across the five groups. The litter size in the diseased group was significantly smaller as compared to control (p<0.05). This validates the teratogenic effect of valproic acid and the potential presence of NTD, which is responsible for the termination of pregnancy. Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) best prevents this teratogenic effect and potential presence of NTD in comparison with the diseased group (p<0.05).

Group	No. of Pregnant Rats	Average Litter Size
Control	04	11
Diseased	06	07
Folic Acid	06	08
Folinic Acid	06	09
Folinic Acid+5mTHF	06	11

 Table 4.1: Number of Pregnant Rats and average Litter Size



Figure 4.1: Average litter size across the five experimental groups.

Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* illustrates p < 0.05.

# 4.2 Changes in Gross Appearance

The gross appearance of fetuses of each group was examined to check the presence of spina bifida and hydrocephalus comorbidity Figure 4.2. As compared to the control, diseased fetuses show a hump in the spine region, indicating the presence of spina bifida, along with a dome-shaped head, indicating the presence of hydrocephalus comorbidity Figure 4.2 (b). Treatment 1 (Folic acid) improved the incidence of spina bifida indicated by the lack of hump in the spine region; however, a dome-shaped head indicated the precipitation of hydrocephalus Figure 4.2 (c). Bioactive folates in both Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) proved effective in preventing this comorbidity Figure 4.2 (d, e).



Figure 4.2: Gross appearance of the fetuses at E20.

(a) Control: shows a normal head and spine appearance; (b) Diseased: shows an enlarged and dome-shaped head and a hump in the spine region; (c) Treatment 1 (Folic acid): shows a dome-shaped head with a normal spine; (d) Treatment 2 (Folinic acid): shows a normal head and spine; (e) Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF): shows a normal head and spine appearance.

# 4.3 Changes in Spine and Brain Morphology

Hematoxylin and eosin staining was performed on the sagittal sections of the five groups' fetuses to examine the differences in spine and brain morphology (Figures 4.3 and 4.4). The spine morphology revealed distorted cells and sac in the diseased fetuses, thus validating the presence of spina bifida Figure 4.3 (b). Treatment 1 (Folic acid) and Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) rescued the normal morphology to some extent Figure 4.3 (c, d). Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) best prevented the incidence of spina bifida Figure 4.3 (e).



Figure 4.3: Representative images of the fetal spine at E20.

Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sagittal sections; Magnification= 40X, Scale bar=200µm. (a)
Control: shows normal spine morphology; (b) Diseased: altered cellular density and presence of a sac; (c) Treatment 1 (Folic acid): altered cellular density; (d) Treatment 2 (Folinic acid): altered cellular density; (e) Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF): normal spine morphology.

H & E staining of sagittal sections of the whole brain revealed distorted tissues and ventricles in the diseased fetuses, thus validating the comorbidity of hydrocephalus Figure 4.4 (b). Treatment 1 (Folic acid) also shows altered brain morphology with increased ventricle size and increased subarachnoid space, indicating the precipitation of hydrocephalus Figure 4.4 (c). However, the best preventive results were observed in the case of Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) Figure 4.4 (d, e).



Figure 4.4: Representative images of the fetal brain at E20.

Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sagittal sections; Magnification= 40X, Scale bar=200μm. (a)
Control: normal brain morphology; (b) Diseased: distorted brain morphology and ventricles; (c)
Treatment 1 (Folic acid): increased ventricle size and increased SAS; (d) Treatment 2 (Folinic acid): normal brain morphology; (e) Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF): normal brain morphology. DM= Dura mater; NPC= Neopallial cortex; SAS= Sub arachnid space.

## 4.4 Changes in Cortical Cellular Density

Figure 4.5 illustrates the differences in the cortex's cellular density in the five groups. The diseased fetuses displayed a reduced cellular density in the cortical region, which indicates low cell proliferation, maturation, and migration Figure 4.5 (b). The cellular density was improved to some extent in Treatment 1 (Folic acid group) and Treatment 2 (Folinic acid). However, Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) best improved the cellular density to a comparable level to that of the control group Figure 4.5 (c, d, e).



Figure 4.5: Representative images of fetal cortical cellular density at E20.

Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sagittal sections; Magnification= 100X, Scale bar=100µm. (a) Control: normal cellular density; (b) Diseased: altered cellular density; (c) Treatment 1 (Folic acid): altered cellular density; (d) Treatment 2 (Folinic acid): improved cellular density; (e) Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF): normal cellular density.

## 4.5 Changes in Thickness of Cortical Layers

Hematoxylin and eosin staining was performed for the comparison of the thickness of cortical layers in the brain, such as the marginal zone, cortical plate, subplate, and intermediate zone, across the five experimental groups at E20. Cortical layers were measured using the ImageJ software to examine the differences in their thickness Figure 4.6, and the graphs for each layer were plotted to compare the differences among the five groups Figure 4.7.

### 4.5.1 Marginal Zone

Control pups demonstrate the thickest marginal zone. In the diseased group, the marginal zone was significantly reduced (p < 0.001). All three folate treatments were equally effective in preventing the reduction of marginal zone Figure 4.7 (a).

### 4.5.2 Cortical Plate

The cortical plate, like the marginal zone, was significantly decreased in the diseased group (p < 0.001) Figure 4.7 (b). Treatment 1 (Folic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) best prevented the decrease in the cortical plate.

#### 4.5.3 Sub Plate

There was not much difference between the sub-plate thickness in the control and diseased groups Figure 4.7 (c). An increase in the thickness of the sub-plate was observed in Treatment 1 (Folic acid) and Treatment 2 (Folinic acid). In Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF), the sub-plate was comparable to the control group.

## 4.5.4 Intermediate Zone

An increase in the intermediate zone was observed in the diseased group as compared to the control group. However, this increase was not indicative of a healthy brain, as the cortical morphology revealed a significant reduction in cellular density and a decrease in layered cell organization. The intermediate zone was decreased in Treatment 1 (Folic acid), which may indicate the precipitation of hydrocephalus. A normal intermediate zone was observed in Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) Figure 4.7 (d).



Figure 4.6: Representative images of the thickness of the fetal cortical layers at E20.

Hematoxylin and eosin-stained sagittal sections; Magnification= 100X, Scale bar=100µm. (a)
 Control: normal cortical layer thickness; (b) Diseased: reduced marginal zone and cortical plate, increased intermediate zone; (c) Treatment 1 (Folic acid): increased cortical and subplate; (d)
 Treatment 2 (Folinic acid): normal cortical layer thickness; (e) Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF): normal cortical layer thickness. MZ= marginal zone, CP= cortical plate, SP= subplate, IZ= intermediate zone.



Figure 4.7: Differences in the thickness of the cortical layers in rat fetuses at E20.

(a) Marginal Zone; (b) Cortical Plate; (c) Sub Plate; (d) Intermediate Zone. Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* illustrates p < 0.05, \*\* illustrates p < 0.01, \*\*\* illustrates p < 0.001.

## 4.6 Folate Expression in CSF and Brain

Dot blot analysis was performed on the proteins extracted from the brain and CSF to determine changes in folate expression. Densitometry analysis revealed an increase in CSF folate expression and a significant increase (p<0.001) in cerebral folate expression in the diseased group. This indicates that the folates are available but not being utilized. CSF folate expression was significantly reduced in all three folate treatments (p<0.001). In the brain, however, Treatment 3 (Folinic acid + 5mTHF) showed the slightest folate expression, revealing the quick utilization of these bioactive folates (p<0.001).



Figure 4.8: Dot blot analysis of fetal CSF and brain at E20.

(a) Dot blot of CSF folates; (b) Graphical representation of folate expression in CSF; (c) Dot blot of cerebral folates; (d) Graphical representation of folate expression in brain. Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \* illustrates p < 0.05, \*\*\* illustrates p < 0.001, \*\*\*\* illustrates p < 0.0001.

# 4.7 Folate Receptor Expression in CSF and Brain

Western blot analysis of fetal CSF proteins indicated a significant decrease in FOLR1 (Folate receptor  $\alpha$ ) expression in the diseased group. Bioactive folate treatment indicates a significant up-regulation of FOLR1, indicating an increase in folate transport.



Figure 4.9: Western Blot of FOLR1 expression in fetal CSF at E20.

(a) Western blot of CSF FOLR1; (b) Graphical representation of FOLR1 expression in CSF. Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*\* illustrates p < 0.001.

# 4.8 Methylation Status in the Brain

Dot blot analysis of cerebral proteins for 5mC revealed a significant decrease in its expression (p< 0.0001) in the diseased group, indicating a decreased DNA methylation. Methylation was slightly increased in the case of Treatment 1 (Folic acid). However, both Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid + 5-mTHF) showed an increased expression of 5mC.



Figure 4.10: Dot blot analysis of cerebral 5mC at E20.

(a) Dot blot of fetal cerebral 5mC; (b) Graphical representation of cerebral 5mC expression. Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\*\*\* illustrates p < 0.0001.

Western blot analysis of cerebral proteins for METTL3 revealed a significant decrease in the expression in the diseased group, indicating a reduction in RNA methylation. Treatment 1 (Folic acid) increased the METTL3 expression to some extent. However, treatment with bioactive folates, both in the case of Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+ 5mTHF) showed a significant increase in METTL3 expression.



Figure 4.11: METTL3 expression in fetal brain at E20.

(a) Western blot of METTL3 of the fetal brain; MW= 60-70kDa (b) Western blot of  $\beta$  actin of the fetal brain; MW= 30-40kDa (c) Graphical representation of cerebral METTL3 expression. Each value depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*\* illustrates p < 0.01, \*\*\*\* illustrates p < 0.001.

# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

Spina bifida is an NTD that is often comorbid with other neurological conditions such as hydrocephalus. There is no cure for these congenital conditions, and the treatment options available to manage these conditions are limited (Blount et al., 2020). The best course of action, in this case, is to prevent these congenital abnormalities in neonates. Maternal folate deficiency during pregnancy is the primary cause of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity in neonates (Urdinguio et al., 2009). The routine clinical practice is to recommend folic acid supplements during the periconceptional period to prevent the occurrence of neural tube defects in neonates. However, folic acid is an oxidized folate, and to exert cellular activity, it must be converted into reduced bioactive forms via the folic acid cycle. Any interruption in the folic acid cycle causes a maternal folate deficiency, which prevents the fetus from receiving the bioactive folates from the process of embryogenesis, leading to NTDs. The purpose of our study was to avoid this comorbidity caused by the reduced folate bioavailability by replacing the synthetic folate supplement with bioactive folate supplements.

Valproic acid (VPA) is an anticonvulsant drug used to treat a variety of neurological conditions (Romoli et al., 2019). However, if used during pregnancy, VPA acts as a mutagen and teratogen for the growing embryo (Hughes et al., 2018). Our study exploits this teratogenic activity of VPA to induce spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity in a rodent model and to check the efficacy of synthetic and bioactive maternal folate supplements on the incidence of this comorbidity. Although FA has been proven to be potent in preventing spina bifida for many years, a study by Cains et al., 2013, indicated

that it can precipitate the incidence of hydrocephalus. So, the notion is to use the correct folate supplement to avoid the incidence of not just spina bifida but hydrocephalus as well.

The gross appearance of fetuses (Figure 4.2) and histochemistry analysis (Figures 4.3 and 4.4) confirmed the success of our animal model of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity. The significant decrease in litter size in the diseased group was consistent with the teratogenic effect of valproic acid, which is responsible for the termination of pregnancy in humans. Moreover, fetuses with neural tube defects are known to terminate before they are even born, which was also observed in our study. The hump in the spine region observed in the diseased group of fetuses was covered with skin which indicated the presence of closed spina bifida or spina bifida occulta. The dome-shaped head confirmed the presence of hydrocephalus comorbidity. The comorbidity usually occurs due to the formation of Arnold Chiari II malformation. Hematoxylin and eosin staining of the sagittal section of the fetuses confirmed the presence of a sac and altered cellular density in the diseased group. Similarly, the altered brain morphology in the diseased group of fetuses revealed a distorted cortex and ventricle. The imbalance in CSF production and drainage in hydrocephalus causes the ventricles to enlarge, and it pushes the cortex outwards towards the skull. This pressure most likely was the reason for the presence of distorted brain tissues. The brain morphology of Treatment 1 (Folic acid) was altered as well, and along with the gross appearance of a dome-shaped head, it confirmed the precipitation of hydrocephalus, although the spina bifida was absent. Maternal bioactive folate supplements, both in Treatment 2 (Folinic acid) and Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5mTHF), prevented this comorbidity. However, the best prevention was observed in the case of a mixture of bioactive folates, i.e., Treatment 3. This indicates that the bioactive folates were

readily available for cellular processes such as normal cell proliferation and cell division compared to synthetic folate treatment, as folic acid first must undergo the folate cycle.

Cortical thickness is another factor that was considered when observing the changes in cerebral health due to maternal folate supplements. In hydrocephalus, the development of the cerebral cortex occurs abnormally, and the cortical thickness is reduced (Cains et al., 2009). In our study, we observed the thickness of individual cortical layers. MZ is the outermost cortical layer and consists of Cajal-Retzius cells, which are the earliest neurons to appear during cortical development. This zone plays a critical role in neuronal migration and layering. MZ is also a site for synaptic connections and information processing in the mature brain (Meyer, 2007). The MZ was significantly reduced in the diseased group, confirming the presence of hydrocephalus. However, this reduction was prevented with equal efficacy in all the folate treatments. The cortical plate consists of densely packed neurons that migrate from the ventricular and subventricular zones (Meyer, 2007). This layer was also considerably decreased in the case of diseased fetuses. The subplate consists of migrating neurons and interneurons and is essential for proper cortical wiring, guiding axons to their correct targets, and influencing the maturation of cortical circuits (Meyer, 2007). No difference was observed in the thickness of this layer. However, examination of H&E staining revealed a low cellular density in this area in the diseased group as well as in Treatment 1 (Folic acid). The intermediate zone (IZ) consists of migrating neurons and intermediate progenitor cells and is a site for neuronal migration and axon growth. This zone transforms into the white matter of the mature brain. It was significantly increased in the diseased control group. However, this increase was not subjective to a healthy brain. Cortical morphology revealed a reduced cellular density, cell proliferation, and cell

migration. All the folate treatments were able to prevent the alteration in the cortical layers. However, it was best prevented in the case of Treatment 3 (Folinic acid, 5mTHF).

We also observed the effect of different maternal folate supplements on cerebral health. If used during pregnancy, VPA can disrupt the maternal folate cycle. Moreover, it can cross the placental barrier and disrupt the folate metabolism in the fetus (Shakya et al., 2020). In this case, folic acid, even if present, cannot be metabolized and converted into its bioactive forms, which are responsible for carrying out critical cellular processes. Folic acid expression would increase, and the same thing was observed in our study. The accumulation of folates in the brain indicates that the folates were not being utilized in the critical cellular processes, thus leading to the precipitation of hydrocephalus. This observation further confirmed the presence of neural tube defect comorbid with hydrocephalus.

Folates are responsible for critical cellular processes such as DNA and RNA methylation (Nazki et al., 2014). During the folate cycle, when 5mTHF is converted into THF, it releases a methyl donor that undergoes a methionine cycle and is eventually utilized for methylation. This establishes a reverse relation between the folate's expression and methylation status. Folate deficiency is associated with a lack of DNA methylation that inhibits the genes required in embryogenesis, thus disrupting gene regulation and cortical development in hydrocephalus. 5mC is the first product of DNA methylation (Crider et al., 2012), and its cerebral expression was significantly reduced in the diseased group. As the folates were pooled in the brain and not utilized, this decreased DNA methylation as well. This decrease may be attributed to cell cycle arrest and low cell proliferation.

The same pattern was observed in the case of METTL3, which indicates the RNA methylation status. Depletion of METTL3 decreases cell proliferation and increases cell apoptosis (Kim & Jang, 2021). METTL3 is also involved in cerebral development, and its reduction affects mRNA stability and cortical neurogenesis. In our study, treatment with bioactive folates decreased the folate levels in both the CSF and the brain, indicating the utilization of folates. Similarly, increased cerebral expression of 5mC and METTL3 indicated the normal methylation of DNA and RNA that eventually prevented the precipitation of hydrocephalus.

FR $\alpha$  acts as a folate transporter that binds and delivers 5mTHF to various regions of the brain, and its activity is altered in a hydrocephalic brain (Naz et al., 2016). Any alterations in folate receptor genes, which in our case were due to VPA, can result in cerebral folate transport deficiency. So, even though the folates are present, their transport inside the cell will be limited. In the current study, we observed a decrease in the folate receptor activity in the CSF of the diseased group, which validates the presence of hydrocephalus. In Treatment 1 (Folic acid), the receptor expression was only partially increased, precipitating hydrocephalus. The maximum expression of FR $\alpha$  was observed in Treatment 3 (Folinic acid+5-mTHF), which proves the superior efficacy of bioactive folates.

Bioactive folates are essential regulators of neural development and function, and these molecules may have the ability to modulate repair processes and positively prevent the incidence of spina bifida and hydrocephalus. The best-known and the most relevant derivative of folate is 5-methyltetrahydrofolate (5-mTHF) – the form that does not require further metabolic transformations in the organism. Although folic acid has proven to be effective in the prevention of spina bifida, the same response has not been observed in the

incidence of hydrocephalus. Studies suggest that bioactive folates such as 5-formyl THF (folinic acid) and 5-mTHF can reduce the incidence of hydrocephalus to a better extent as compared to folic acid (Cains et al., 2009; Naz et al., 2016). Folinic acid is a derivative of tetrahydrofolate, which is an active form of folate and is a precursor for 5-mTHF. Hence, the notion is not the need for folate supplementation but which form of folate is to be given. Addressing this challenge is imperative, prompting the exploration of alternative active forms of folic acid that can efficiently bypass the intricacies of the folic acid cycle as well as have the capacity to reduce the incidence of both disorders at the same time.

Our study analyzed the effect of different maternal folate supplements on spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity on morphological as well as molecular levels. To the best of our knowledge, it is the first study that compared the efficacy of synthetic and bioactive maternal folate supplements on a model of spina bifida with hydrocephalus comorbidity. According to our research, a mixture of bioactive folates consisting of folinic acid and 5mTHF outperforms the synthetic folate, i.e., folic acid, in preventing this comorbidity. Also, these bioactive folates proved to be best in rescuing the VPA-induced faults in cerebral DNA and RNA methylation. Further studies on gene profiling of fetuses and placenta in order to identify VPA-induced gene modification and how bioactive folates rescued the expression of those genes will further validate our study. Considering the global incidence of NTDs and associated neurological conditions, it is imperative to establish novel and more efficient preventative measures, and the use of bioactive folates might prove to be the first step toward mitigating these conditions.

## REFERENCES

- Adeleye, A. O., Dairo, M. D., & Olowookere, K. G. (2010). Central nervous system congenital malformations in a developing country: issues and challenges against their prevention. *Child's Nervous System*, 26, 919-924.
- Antony, A., Kane, M. A., Portillo, R. M., Elwood, P. C., & Kolhouse, J. F. (1985). Studies of the role of a particulate folate-binding protein in the uptake of 5methyltetrahydrofolate by cultured human KB cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 260(28), 14911-14917.
- Apkon, S. D., Grady, R., Hart, S., Lee, A., McNalley, T., Niswander, L., Petersen, J., Remley, S., Rotenstein, D., & Shurtleff, H. (2014). Advances in the care of children with spina bifida. *Advances in Pediatrics*, 61(1), 33-74.
- Bachy, I., Kozyraki, R., & Wassef, M. (2008). The particles of the embryonic cerebrospinal fluid: how could they influence brain development? *Brain research bulletin*, 75(2-4), 289-294.
- Bailey, S. W., & Ayling, J. E. (2018). The pharmacokinetic advantage of 5methyltetrahydrofolate for minimization of the risk for birth defects. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 4096. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-22191-2
- Balashova, O. A., Visina, O., & Borodinsky, L. N. (2018). Folate action in nervous system development and disease. *Dev Neurobiol*, 78(4), 391-402. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22579
- Baumann, M. U., Deborde, S., & Illsley, N. P. (2002). Placental glucose transfer and fetal growth. *Endocrine*, 19, 13-22.
- Bendt, M., Gabrielsson, H., Riedel, D., Hagman, G., Hultling, C., Franzén, E., Eriksson, M., & Seiger, Å. (2020). Adults with spina bifida: a cross-sectional study of health issues and living conditions. *Brain and behavior*, 10(8), e01736.
- Berry, R. J., Li, Z., Erickson, J. D., Li, S., Moore, C. A., Wang, H., Mulinare, J., Zhao, P., Wong, L.-Y. C., & Gindler, J. (1999). Prevention of neural-tube defects with folic acid in China. *New England journal of medicine*, 341(20), 1485-1490.
- Bisseling, T., Steegers, E., Van den Heuvel, J., Siero, H., Van De Water, F., Walker, A., Steegers-Theunissen, R., Smits, P., & Russel, F. (2004). Placental folate transport and binding are not impaired in pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction. *Placenta*, 25(6), 588-593.
- Blencowe, H., Cousens, S., Modell, B., & Lawn, J. (2010). Folic acid to reduce neonatal mortality from neural tube disorders. *Int J Epidemiol*, 39 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), i110-121. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyq028

- Blom, H. J., Shaw, G. M., den Heijer, M., & Finnell, R. H. (2006). Neural tube defects and folate: case far from closed. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 7(9), 724-731. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1986
- Blom, H. J., & Smulders, Y. (2011). Overview of homocysteine and folate metabolism. With special references to cardiovascular disease and neural tube defects. *Journal* of inherited metabolic disease, 34, 75-81.
- Blount, J. P., Bowman, R., Dias, M. S., Hopson, B., Partington, M. D., & Rocque, B. G. (2020). Neurosurgery guidelines for the care of people with spina bifida. *Journal* of pediatric rehabilitation medicine, 13(4), 467-477.
- Botto, L. D., Moore, C. A., Khoury, M. J., & Erickson, J. D. (1999). Neural-tube defects. *N Engl J Med*, *341*(20), 1509-1519. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199911113412006
- Briner, W., & Lieske, R. (1995). Arnold-Chiari-like malformation associated with a valproate model of spina bifida in the rat. *Teratology*, *52*(5), 306-311. https://doi.org/10.1002/tera.1420520509
- Cains, S., Shepherd, A., Nabiuni, M., Owen-Lynch, P. J., & Miyan, J. (2009). Addressing a Folate Imbalance in Fetal Cerebrospinal Fluid Can Decrease the Incidence of Congenital Hydrocephalus. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 68(4), 404-416. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e31819e64a7
- Carboni, L. (2022). Active Folate Versus Folic Acid: The Role of 5-MTHF (Methylfolate) in Human Health. *Integr Med (Encinitas)*, 21(3), 36-41.
- Cawley, S., O'Malley, E. G., Kennedy, R. A. K., Reynolds, C. M. E., Molloy, A. M., & Turner, M. J. (2020). The relationship between maternal plasma homocysteine in early pregnancy and birth weight. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, 33(18), 3045-3049. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767058.2019.1567705
- Cetin, I. (2003). Placental transport of amino acids in normal and growth-restricted pregnancies. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology*, *110*, S50-S54.
- Ceylan, S., Duru, S., & Ceylan, S. (2001). Valproic acid sodium-induced spina bifida occulta in the rat. *Neurosurgical review*, 24, 31-34.
- CHAMPION, K. M., Cook, R. J., ToLLAksEN, S. L., & Giometti, C. S. (1994). Identification of a heritable deficiency of the folate-dependent enzyme 10formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(24), 11338-11342.
- Christianson, A. L., Howson, C. P., & Modell, B. (2006). *Global report on birth defects: the hidden toll of dying and disabled children*. March of Dimes Birth Defects Foundation.

- Copp, A. J., Adzick, N. S., Chitty, L. S., Fletcher, J. M., Holmbeck, G. N., & Shaw, G. M. (2015). Spina bifida. *Nature reviews Disease primers*, 1(1), 1-18.
- Crider, K. S., Yang, T. P., Berry, R. J., & Bailey, L. B. (2012). Folate and DNA methylation: a review of molecular mechanisms and the evidence for folate's role. *Advances in nutrition*, *3*(1), 21-38.
- Czeizel, A. E., & Dudas, I. (1992). Prevention of the first occurrence of neural-tube defects by periconceptional vitamin supplementation. *New England journal of medicine*, *327*(26), 1832-1835.
- Damaraju, V. L., Hamilton, K. F., Seth-Smith, M. L., Cass, C. E., & Sawyer, M. B. (2005). Characterization of binding of folates and antifolates to brush-border membrane vesicles isolated from human kidney. *Molecular pharmacology*, 67(2), 453-459.
- Dawson, J. E., Raymond, A. M., & Winn, L. M. (2006). Folic acid and pantothenic acid protection against valproic acid-induced neural tube defects in CD-1 mice. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*, 211(2), 124-132.
- de Paul Djientcheu, V., Njamnshi, A. K., Wonkam, A., Njiki, J., Guemse, M., Mbu, R., Obama, M. T., Takongmo, S., Kago, I., & Tetanye, E. (2008). Management of neural tube defects in a Sub-Saharan African country: The situation in Yaounde, Cameroon. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 275(1-2), 29-32.
- De Wals, P., Tairou, F., Van Allen, M. I., Uh, S.-H., Lowry, R. B., Sibbald, B., Evans, J. A., Van den Hof, M. C., Zimmer, P., & Crowley, M. (2007). Reduction in neural-tube defects after folic acid fortification in Canada. *New England journal of medicine*, 357(2), 135-142.
- Ducker, G. S., & Rabinowitz, J. D. (2017). One-Carbon Metabolism in Health and Disease. *Cell Metab*, 25(1), 27-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.009
- Ebara, S. (2017). Nutritional role of folate. *Congenital anomalies*, 57(5), 138-141.
- Ehlers, K., Stürje, H., Merker, H. J., & Nau, H. (1992). Valproic acid-induced spina bifida: A mouse model. *Teratology*, 45(2), 145-154.
- Fons, K., & Jnah, A. J. (2021). Arnold-Chiari Malformation: Core Concepts. Neonatal network, 40(5).
- Ganapathy, V., Smith, S. B., & Prasad, P. D. (2004). SLC19: the folate/thiamine transporter family. *Pflügers Archiv*, 447, 641-646.
- Gazzali, A. M., Lobry, M., Colombeau, L., Acherar, S., Azaïs, H., Mordon, S., Arnoux, P., Baros, F., Vanderesse, R., & Frochot, C. (2016). Stability of folic acid under several parameters. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 93, 419-430.

- Giugliani, E., Jorge, S., & Goncalves, A. (1985). Serum and red blood cell folate levels in parturients, in the intervillous space of the placenta and in full-term newborns.
- Goswami, P., Memon, S., Khimani, V., & Rajpar, F. (2015). Frequency and variation of neural tube defects at Liaquat University Hospital Jamshoro, Sindh, Pakistan.
- Greene, N. D., & Copp, A. J. (2014). Neural tube defects. *Annual review of neuroscience*, 37(1), 221-242.
- Harrington, M. G., Fonteh, A. N., Oborina, E., Liao, P., Cowan, R. P., McComb, G., Chavez, J. N., Rush, J., Biringer, R. G., & Hühmer, A. F. (2009). The morphology and biochemistry of nanostructures provide evidence for synthesis and signaling functions in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Cerebrospinal fluid research*, 6, 1-17.
- He, Q., & Li, J. (2023). The evolution of folate supplementation from one size for all to personalized, precision, poly-paths. *J Transl Int Med*, 11(2), 128-137. https://doi.org/10.2478/jtim-2023-0087
- Henderson, G. I., Perez, T., Schenker, S., Mackins, J., & Antony, A. C. (1995). Maternalto-fetal transfer of 5-methyltetrahydrofolate by the perfused human placental cotyledon: evidence for a concentrative role by placental folate receptors in fetal folate delivery. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine*, *126*(2), 184-203.
- Hernández-Díaz, S., Werler, M. M., Walker, A. M., & Mitchell, A. A. (2000). Folic acid antagonists during pregnancy and the risk of birth defects. *New England journal of medicine*, *343*(22), 1608-1614.
- Hsieh, C.-L., Wang, H.-E., Tsai, W.-J., Peng, C.-C., & Peng, R. Y. (2012). Multiple point action mechanism of valproic acid-teratogenicity alleviated by folic acid, vitamin C, and N-acetylcysteine in chicken embryo model. *Toxicology*, 291(1-3), 32-42.
- Hughes, A., Greene, N. D., Copp, A. J., & Galea, G. L. (2018). Valproic acid disrupts the biomechanics of late spinal neural tube closure in mouse embryos. *Mechanisms of development*, 149, 20-26.
- Ichi, S., Costa, F. F., Bischof, J. M., Nakazaki, H., Shen, Y.-W., Boshnjaku, V., Sharma, S., Mania-Farnell, B., McLone, D. G., & Tomita, T. (2010). Folic acid remodels chromatin on Hes1 and Neurog2 promoters during caudal neural tube development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(47), 36922-36932.
- Ifergan, I., & Assaraf, Y. G. (2008). Molecular mechanisms of adaptation to folate deficiency. *Vitamins & Hormones*, 79, 99-143.
- Isaković, J., Šimunić, I., Jagečić, D., Hribljan, V., & Mitrečić, D. (2022). Overview of neural tube defects: gene–environment interactions, preventative approaches and future perspectives. *Biomedicines*, *10*(5), 965.

- Jinno, N., Furugen, A., Kurosawa, Y., Kanno, Y., Narumi, K., Kobayashi, M., & Iseki, K. (2020). Effects of single and repetitive valproic acid administration on the gene expression of placental transporters in pregnant rats: An analysis by gestational period. *Reproductive toxicology*, 96, 47-56.
- Kancherla, V. (2023). Neural tube defects: a review of global prevalence, causes, and primary prevention. *Childs Nerv Syst*, *39*(7), 1703-1710. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00381-023-05910-7
- Keating, E., Goncalves, P., Campos, I., Costa, F., & Martel, F. (2009). Folic acid uptake by the human syncytiotrophoblast: interference by pharmacotherapy, drugs of abuse and pathological conditions. *Reproductive toxicology*, 28(4), 511-520.
- Kim, H., & Jang, S. (2021). RNA m6A methyltransferase Mettl3 regulates spatial neural patterning in Xenopus laevis. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 41(8), e00104-00121.
- Lin, Y. L., Bialer, M., Cabrera, R. M., Finnell, R. H., & Wlodarczyk, B. J. (2019). Teratogenicity of valproic acid and its constitutional isomer, amide derivative valnoctamide in mice. *Birth Defects Research*, 111(14), 1013-1023.
- Litynski, P., Loehrer, F., Linder, L., Todesco, L., & Fowler, B. (2002). Effect of low doses of 5-methyltetrahydrofolate and folic acid on plasma homocysteine in healthy subjects with or without the 677C→ T polymorphism of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 32(9), 662-668.
- Locasale, J. W. (2013). Serine, glycine and one-carbon units: cancer metabolism in full circle. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *13*(8), 572-583.
- Lucock, M. (2000). Folic acid: nutritional biochemistry, molecular biology, and role in disease processes. *Molecular genetics and metabolism*, 71(1-2), 121-138.
- Mahajan, C. (2021). Neural tube defects: meningocele and encephalocele. *Fundamentals* of Pediatric Neuroanesthesia, 219-232.
- Manthou, M. E., Meditskou, S., Lykartsis, C., Sapalidis, K., Sorkou, K., & Emmanouil-Nikoloussi, E.-N. (2020). The role of neuronal apoptosis in Valproic Acid brainrelated teratogenesis: a histochemical and immunohistochemical study in BALB/c mice. *Romanian Journal of Morphology and Embryology*, 61(3), 813.
- McKay, J., Williams, E., & Mathers, J. (2004). Folate and DNA methylation during in utero development and aging. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, *32*(6), 1006-1007.
- McLone, D. G., & Knepper, P. A. (1989). The cause of Chiari II malformation: a unified theory. *Pediatric Neurosurgery*, 15(1), 1-12.

- Menezo, Y., Elder, K., Clement, A., & Clement, P. (2022). Folic acid, folinic acid, 5 methyl tetrahydrofolate supplementation for mutations that affect epigenesis through the folate and one-carbon cycles. *Biomolecules*, 12(2), 197.
- Meyer, G. (2007). Genetic control of neuronal migrations in human cortical development.
- Molloy, A. M. (2002). Folate bioavailability and health. *International journal for vitamin and nutrition research*, 72(1), 46-52.
- Naderi, N., & House, J. D. (2018). Recent developments in folate nutrition. Advances in food and nutrition research, 83, 195-213.
- Naz, N., Jimenez, A. R., Sanjuan-Vilaplana, A., Gurney, M., & Miyan, J. (2016). Neonatal hydrocephalus is a result of a block in folate handling and metabolism involving 10-formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *138*(4), 610-623. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13686
- Nazki, F. H., Sameer, A. S., & Ganaie, B. A. (2014). Folate: metabolism, genes, polymorphisms and the associated diseases. *Gene*, *533*(1), 11-20.
- Novak, D., Lehman, M., Bernstein, H., Beveridge, M., & Cramer, S. (2006). SNAT expression in rat placenta. *Placenta*, 27(4-5), 510-516.
- Obeid, R., & Herrmann, W. (2012). The emerging role of unmetabolized folic acid in human diseases: myth or reality? *Current drug metabolism*, *13*(8), 1184-1195.
- Okada, A., Aoki, Y., Kushima, K., Kurihara, H., Bialer, M., & Fujiwara, M. (2004). Polycomb homologs are involved in teratogenicity of valproic acid in mice. *Birth Defects Research Part A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, 70(11), 870-879.
- Okada, A., Kurihara, H., Aoki, Y., Bialer, M., & Fujiwara, M. (2004). Amidic modification of valproic acid reduces skeletal teratogenicity in mice. *Birth Defects Research Part B: Developmental and Reproductive Toxicology*, 71(1), 47-53.
- Page, R., Robichaud, A., Arbuckle, T. E., Fraser, W. D., & MacFarlane, A. J. (2017). Total folate and unmetabolized folic acid in the breast milk of a cross-section of Canadian women. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 105(5), 1101-1109.
- Papadopoulou, E., Stratakis, N., Roumeliotaki, T., Sarri, K., Merlo, D. F., Kogevinas, M., & Chatzi, L. (2013). The effect of high doses of folic acid and iron supplementation in early-to-mid pregnancy on prematurity and fetal growth retardation: the mother–child cohort study in Crete, Greece (Rhea study). *European journal of nutrition*, 52, 327-336.
- Patanwala, I., King, M. J., Barrett, D. A., Rose, J., Jackson, R., Hudson, M., Philo, M., Dainty, J. R., Wright, A. J., & Finglas, P. M. (2014). Folic acid handling by the

human gut: implications for food fortification and supplementation. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 100(2), 593-599.

- Pietrzik, K., Bailey, L., & Shane, B. (2010). Folic acid and L-5-methyltetrahydrofolate: comparison of clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 49, 535-548.
- Prasad, P. D., Ramamoorthy, S., Leibach, F. H., & Ganapathy, V. (1995). Molecular cloning of the human placental folate transporter. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 206(2), 681-687.
- Prinz-Langenohl, R., Brämswig, S., Tobolski, O., Smulders, Y., Smith, D., Finglas, P., & Pietrzik, K. (2009). [6S]-5-methyltetrahydrofolate increases plasma folate more effectively than folic acid in women with the homozygous or wild-type 677C→ T polymorphism of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *British journal of pharmacology*, 158(8), 2014-2021.
- Pufulete, M., Al-Ghnaniem, R., Khushal, A., Appleby, P., Harris, N., Gout, S., Emery, P., & Sanders, T. (2005). Effect of folic acid supplementation on genomic DNA methylation in patients with colorectal adenoma. *Gut*, 54(5), 648-653.
- Qiu, A., Jansen, M., Sakaris, A., Min, S. H., Chattopadhyay, S., Tsai, E., Sandoval, C., Zhao, R., Akabas, M. H., & Goldman, I. D. (2006). Identification of an intestinal folate transporter and the molecular basis for hereditary folate malabsorption. *Cell*, 127(5), 917-928.
- Rahman, M. A., & Madkour, H. I. (2023). The protective effect of folic acid against valproate-induced neurological and skeletal congenital anomalies in mice. *Zagazig University Medical Journal*, 29(3), 833-840. https://doi.org/10.21608/zumj.2023.193098.2746
- Rajgopal, A., Sierra, E. E., Zhao, R., & Goldman, I. D. (2001). Expression of the reduced folate carrier SLC19A1 in IEC-6 cells results in two distinct transport activities. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 281(5), C1579-C1586.
- Romoli, M., Mazzocchetti, P., D'Alonzo, R., Siliquini, S., Rinaldi, V. E., Verrotti, A., Calabresi, P., & Costa, C. (2019). Valproic acid and epilepsy: from molecular mechanisms to clinical evidences. *Current neuropharmacology*, 17(10), 926-946.
- Rothenberg, S. P., da Costa, M. P., Sequeira, J. M., Cracco, J., Roberts, J. L., Weedon, J., & Quadros, E. V. (2004). Autoantibodies against folate receptors in women with a pregnancy complicated by a neural-tube defect. *New England journal of medicine*, 350(2), 134-142.
- Sabharanjak, S., & Mayor, S. (2004). Folate receptor endocytosis and trafficking. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 56(8), 1099-1109.

- Saleem, M., Ali, M., & Hussnain, Q. (2010). Prevalence and associated risk factors for neural tube defects in patients at Sheikh Zayed hospital Rahim Yar Khan. *Pak J Med Sci*, 4, 197-202.
- Salimi, A., Alyan, N., Akbari, N., Jamali, Z., & Pourahmad, J. (2022). Selenium and Lcarnitine protects from valproic acid-Induced oxidative stress and mitochondrial damages in rat cortical neurons. *Drug and Chemical Toxicology*, 45(3), 1150-1157.
- Scaglione, F., & Panzavolta, G. (2014). Folate, folic acid and 5-methyltetrahydrofolate are not the same thing. *Xenobiotica*, 44(5), 480-488.
- Serrano, N. C., Quintero-Lesmes, D. C., Becerra-Bayona, S., Guio, E., Beltran, M., Paez, M. C., Ortiz, R., Saldarriaga, W., Diaz, L. A., & Monterrosa, Á. (2018).
  Association of pre-eclampsia risk with maternal levels of folate, homocysteine and vitamin B12 in Colombia: a case-control study. *PloS one*, *13*(12), e0208137.
- Servy, E. J., Jacquesson-Fournols, L., Cohen, M., & Menezo, Y. J. R. (2018). MTHFR isoform carriers. 5-MTHF (5-methyl tetrahydrofolate) vs folic acid: a key to pregnancy outcome: a case series. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics*, 35(8), 1431-1435. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10815-018-1225-2
- Sever, L. E. (1995). Looking for causes of neural tube defects: where does the environment fit in? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *103*(suppl 6), 165-171.
- Shakya, P., Shakya, N. K., & Mohanty, C. (2020). Teratogenic effects (resorptions and reduction in weight and crown rump length) of valproate on fetal mice. *National Journal of Clinical Anatomy*, 9(2), 39-42.
- Solanky, N., Jimenez, A. R., D'Souza, S., Sibley, C., & Glazier, J. (2010). Expression of folate transporters in human placenta and implications for homocysteine metabolism. *Placenta*, 31(2), 134-143.
- Su, X., Wellen, K. E., & Rabinowitz, J. D. (2016). Metabolic control of methylation and acetylation. *Current opinion in chemical biology*, 30, 52-60.
- Sweeney, M. R., McPartlin, J., Weir, D. G., Daly, S., Pentieva, K., Daly, L., & Scott, J. M. (2005). Evidence of unmetabolised folic acid in cord blood of newborn and serum of 4-day-old infants. *British journal of nutrition*, 94(5), 727-730.
- Tanoshima, M., Kobayashi, T., Tanoshima, R., Beyene, J., Koren, G., & Ito, S. (2015). Risks of congenital malformations in offspring exposed to valproic acid in utero: A systematic review and cumulative meta-analysis. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 98(4), 417-441.
- Thomale, U.-W. (2021). Integrated understanding of hydrocephalus—a practical approach for a complex disease. *Child's Nervous System*, *37*(11), 3313-3324.

- Thorand, B., Pietrzik, K., Prinz-Langenohl, R., Hages, M., & Holzgreve, W. (1996). Maternal and fetal serum and red blood cell folate and vitamin B12 concentrations in pregnancies affected by neural tube defects. *Zeitschrift fur Geburtshilfe und Neonatologie*, 200(5), 176-180.
- Tinelli, C., Di Pino, A., Ficulle, E., Marcelli, S., & Feligioni, M. (2019).Hyperhomocysteinemia as a risk factor and potential nutraceutical target for certain pathologies. *Frontiers in nutrition*, *6*, 49.
- Tomson, T., Battino, D., & Perucca, E. (2016). Valproic acid after five decades of use in epilepsy: time to reconsider the indications of a time-honoured drug. *The Lancet Neurology*, *15*(2), 210-218.
- Urdinguio, R. G., Sanchez-Mut, J. V., & Esteller, M. (2009). Epigenetic mechanisms in neurological diseases: genes, syndromes, and therapies. *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(11), 1056-1072.
- van der Put, N. M., Gabreëls, F., Stevens, E. M., Smeitink, J. A., Trijbels, F. J., Eskes, T. K., van den Heuvel, L. P., & Blom, H. J. (1998). A second common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene: an additional risk factor for neural-tube defects? *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 62(5), 1044-1051.
- Verhoef, H., Veenemans, J., Mwangi, M. N., & Prentice, A. M. (2017). Safety and benefits of interventions to increase folate status in malaria-endemic areas. *British journal of haematology*, 177(6), 905-918.
- Vidmar Golja, M., Šmid, A., Karas Kuželički, N., Trontelj, J., Geršak, K., & Mlinarič-Raščan, I. (2020). Folate insufficiency due to MTHFR deficiency is bypassed by 5-methyltetrahydrofolate. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(9), 2836.
- Wagner, C. (2001). Biochemical role of folate in cellular metabolism. *Clinical Research and Regulatory Affairs*, 18(3), 161-180.
- Wald, N. J. (2022). Folic acid and neural tube defects: Discovery, debate and the need for policy change. *J Med Screen*, 29(3), 138-146. https://doi.org/10.1177/09691413221102321
- Wallace, J. M., Bonham, M. P., Strain, J., Duffy, E. M., Robson, P. J., Ward, M., McNulty, H., Davidson, P. W., Myers, G. J., & Shamlaye, C. F. (2008). Homocysteine concentration, related B vitamins, and betaine in pregnant women recruited to the Seychelles Child Development Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 87(2), 391-397.
- Wallingford, J. B., Niswander, L. A., Shaw, G. M., & Finnell, R. H. (2013). The continuing challenge of understanding, preventing, and treating neural tube defects. *Science*, 339(6123), 1222002.
- Warf, B. C. (2011). Hydrocephalus associated with neural tube defects: characteristics, management, and outcome in sub-Saharan Africa. *Child's Nervous System*, 27, 1589-1594.
- Wright, A. J., Dainty, J. R., & Finglas, P. M. (2007). Folic acid metabolism in human subjects revisited: potential implications for proposed mandatory folic acid fortification in the UK. *British journal of nutrition*, 98(4), 667-675.
- Yadav, U., Kumar, P., & Rai, V. (2021). Maternal biomarkers for early prediction of the neural tube defects pregnancies. *Birth Defects Research*, 113(7), 589-600.
- Yamaguchi, M., Sakata, M., Ogura, K., & Miyake, A. (1996). Gestational changes of glucose transporter gene expression in the mouse placenta and decidua. *Journal of* endocrinological investigation, 19, 567-569.
- Yang, Y., Chen, J., Wang, B., Ding, C., & Liu, H. (2015). Association between MTHFR C677T polymorphism and neural tube defect risks: A comprehensive evaluation in three groups of NTD patients, mothers, and fathers. *Birth Defects Research Part A: Clinical and Molecular Teratology*, 103(6), 488-500.
- Yasuda, S., Hasui, S., Yamamoto, C., Yoshioka, C., Kobayashi, M., Itagaki, S., Hirano, T., & Iseki, K. (2008). Placental Folate Transport during Pregnancy. *Bioscience*, *biotechnology, and biochemistry*, 72(9), 2277-2284. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.80112
- YOON, S., CHAN, C., AJ, V., BRODY, T., & ELR, S. (1976). SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF GAMMA-GLUTAMYL CARBOXYPEPTIDASE AND OF FOLATES.
- Zhao, X., Zhao, Y., Ping, Y., Chen, L., & Feng, X. (2020). Association between gene polymorphism of folate metabolism and recurrent spontaneous abortion in Asia: A Meta-analysis. *Medicine*, 99(40), e21962.

# turnitinD

## **Digital Receipt**

This receipt acknowledges that Turnitin received your paper. Below you will find the receipt information regarding your submission.

The first page of your submissions is displayed below.

Submission author:	<b>Research Dte Reseach Dte</b>
Assignment title:	thesis
Submission title:	p
File name:	Thesis_draft_for_plagirism_check.docx
File size:	123.27K
Page count:	40

Word count: 9,729 Character count: 53,911 Submission date: 25-Sep-2024 10:24PM (UTC-0700) Submission ID: 2465955003

#### ABSTRACT

Folates are crucial in the entire process of pregnancy, and their deficiency can result in congenital diseases such as spine bifide (SB), which are often comorbid with bydrocephalus (HC). Maternal folic acid supplements can precipitate the incidence of hydrocephatas in secontes, and any fault in the folic acid metabolism can prevent the growing embryo from receiving the bioactive folmes required for cellular processes. This highlights a need to look for something more promising than folic acid supplementations. We simed to identify and compare the preventative impact of synthetic and bioactive maternal folate supplements on CNS in an animal model of SB-HC comorbidity generated through valproic acid. Three maternal folate supplements were selected: folic acid (synthetic folate), folinic acid (bioactive folate), and folinic acid+ 5-methylactrahydrofolate (5-mTHF) (mixture of bioactive folmes). The gross appearance and morphological study of the fermes revealed hydrocephalus precipitation in the folic acid group, which was best prevented by the treatment of folinic acid+5-mTHF. Central folate expremion was increased, and methylation levels were decreased in the folic acid group. This indicates that the folates have not been utilized in the DNA and RNA methylation, which is necessary for cerebral development. The activity of cerebral folme receptor alpha was also reduced in the folic acid group. The best preventative effects regarding folate utilization, methylation, and folate receptor activity were observed in the case of foliaic acid+5-mTHF. The data indicates that bioactive folates, especially a mixture of folinic acid and 5-mTHF. outperform synthetic folate in the prevention of SB-HC comorbidity.





**OF: Nation Nations** Islamabad





Naz, Naila, Alicia Requena Jimenez, Anna Sanjuan Vilaplana, Megan Gurney, and Jaleel Miyan. "Neonatal hydrocephalus is a result of a block in folate handling and metabolism involving 10 formyl tetrahydrofolate



%

%

## dehydrogenase", Journal of Neurochemistry, 2016. Publication



YASUDA, Satoru, Satoko HASUI, Chiaki YAMAMOTO, Chihiro YOSHIOKA, Masaki KOBAYASHI, Shirou ITAGAKI, Takeshi HIRANO, and Ken ISEKI. "Placental Folate Transport during Pregnancy", Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry, 2008. Publication



Wayne Briner. "Arnold-Chiari-like malformation associated with a valproate model of spina bifida in the rat", Teratology,

#### 11/1995 Publication



Or Nails Net Will Islamaba

4	Hutson, Janine Rose. "Evaluation of transplacental pharmacology and toxicology from bench to bedside.", Proquest, 2016. Publication	1%
5	Wani, Nissar Ahmad. "Regulatory Mechanisms of Folate Transport Systems in Various Tissues in Experimental Alcoholism", Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh (India), 2024 Publication	<1%
6	Marta Molero-Luis, Mercedes Serrano, Maria M O'Callaghan, Cristina Sierra et al. "Clinical, etiological and therapeutic aspects of cerebral folate deficiency", Expert Review of Neurotherapeutics, 2015 Publication	<1%
7	www.mdpi.com Internet Source	<1%
8	"Hydrophilic Vitamins in Health and Disease", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2024 Publication	<1%
9	Nilanjana Maulik, Gautam Maulik. "Nutrition, Epigenetic Mechanisms, and Human Disease", CRC Press, 2019	< <b>1</b> %

Submitted to Universidade de Aveiro

<1% <1 % www.nature.com 11 **Internet Source** www.frontiersin.org <1% 12 **Internet Source** <1 % www.hkpr.on.ca 13 **Internet Source** Hammons, Andr. "Genetic Polymorphisms and <1% 14 Antifolate Drug Treatment Can Alter Folate/Homocysteine Metabolism and Inflammatory Protein Profile", Proquest, 2013. Publication R.P.M. Steegers-Theunissen. "The importance <1% 15 of folate, zinc and antioxidants in the pathogenesis and prevention of subfertility", Human Reproduction Update, 11/29/2006 Publication Jessica Bayes, Nitish Agrawal, Janet Schloss. <1% 16 "A pilot trial examining the absorption of oral forms of folate supplementation in a healthy population: A randomised control trial", Advances in Integrative Medicine, 2018 Publication

17 ajod.org

18	Qirrat Sajjad, Arif-ullah Khan, Aslam Khan. "Pharmacological investigation of genistein for its therapeutic potential against nitroglycerin-induced migraine headache", Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 2024 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
19	Aryani Aryani, Eddy Suprayitno, Bambang Budi Sasmito, Hardoko Hardoko. "Characterization and identification of charcoal of inedible Kerandang fish (Channa pleurophthalmus Blkr) body parts and potential antiallergenic properties", Veterinary World, 2020 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
20	Submitted to University of Chichester	<1%
21	www.spandidos-publications.com	<1%
22	Thakur, Shilpa. "Regulation of Intestinal Folate Transport Upon Ethanol Exposure and Folate Deficiency", Postgraduate Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh (India), 2024 Publication	<1%
23	Submitted to University of Nebraska Medical Center	<1%

Student Paper



32	Prathamesh Dongre, Madhu Ramesh, Thimmaiah Govindaraju, Maneesha S Inamdar. "Asrij/OCIAD1 depletion reduces inflammatory microglial activation and ameliorates Aβ pathology in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model", Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 2024 Publication	<1 %
33	Submitted to University of Ulster Student Paper	<1%
34	cob.silverchair-cdn.com Internet Source	<1%
35	link.springer.com	<1%
36	Submitted to Argosy University Student Paper	<1 %
37	Submitted to Higher Education Commission Pakistan Student Paper	<1%
38	Submitted to Universita' di Siena Student Paper	<1%
39	publications.aston.ac.uk	<1%
40	pubs.acs.org Internet Source	<1%

41	B. Richter, K. Stegmann, B. Röper, I. Böddeker, E. T. K. M. Ngo, M. C. Koch. "Interaction of folate and homocysteine pathway genotypes evaluated in susceptibility to neural tube defects (NTD) in a German population", Journal of Human Genetics, 2001 Publication	<1%
42	Ihirwe, Rita Gloria. "Abnormal Placental DNA Methylation and Gene Expression Associated with Assisted Reproduction: Early Detection and Effect of Folic Acid Supplementation", McGill University (Canada), 2023 Publication	<1%
43	Mohammed H. Moghadasian, N.A. Michael Eskin. "Functional Foods and Cardiovascular Disease", CRC Press, 2019 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
44	Sang-Woon Choi, Simonetta Friso. "Nutrient- Gene Interactions Cancer", CRC Press, 2006 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
45	digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu	<1%
46	herbaltransitions.com	<1%
47	ricerca.univaq.it Internet Source	<1%

48	G. Tonni, A. Ventura. "Multiplanar three- dimensional prenatal aided diagnosis of Arnold–Chiari type 2 malformation: Comparison between 2D and 3D ultrasound", The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, 2009 Publication	<1%
49	Lucock, M "Folic Acid: Nutritional Biochemistry, Molecular Biology, and Role in Disease Processes", Molecular Genetics and Metabolism, 200009 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
50	Naila Naz, Alicia Requena Jimenez, Anna Sanjuan-Vilaplana, Megan Gurney, Jaleel Miyan. "Neonatal hydrocephalus is a result of a block infolate handling and metabolism involving 10-formyltetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase", Journal of Neurochemistry, 2016 Publication	< <b>1</b> %
51	P. Fantidis, P. Gancedo, J. Méndez, E. Herrero.	<1%

- 51 P. Fantidis, P. Gancedo, J. Méndez, E. Herrero. "Short-Term and Intermediate-Term Effects of Low Blood Magnesium on Progesterone, LH and FSH Levels in Rats", Hormone and Metabolic Research, 2007 Publication
- 52 Submitted to University of North Carolina -Wilmington

<1%

53	archive.org Internet Source	<1%
54	intl-pediatrics.aappublications.org	<1%
55	scholarworks.gsu.edu Internet Source	<1%
56	Francesco Scaglione, Giscardo Panzavolta. "Folate, folic acid and 5- methyltetrahydrofolate are not the same thing", Xenobiotica, 2014 Publication	<1%
57	Jane Viste. "Communicating (Birth Defects) Prevention Information to a Hmong Population in Wisconsin: A Study of Cultural Relevance", Substance Use & Misuse, 2009 Publication	<1%
58	Robert B. Rucker, Janos Zempleni, John W. Suttie, Donald B. McCormick. "Handbook of Vitamins", CRC Press, 2019 Publication	<1%
59	Thomas G. Guilliams. "MTHFR, Homocysteine and Nutrient Needs", Elsevier BV, 2018 Publication	<1 %
60	Vijaya Kancherla. "Neural tube defects: a review of global prevalence, causes, and	<1%

### primary prevention", Child's Nervous System, 2023

Publication

61	accord.edu.so Internet Source	<1%
62	www.longdom.org Internet Source	<1%
63	www.researchgate.net	<1%
64	Bischak, Kristina M "The Role of Folate Receptor 1 in Axon Development", University of California, Davis, 2024 Publication	<1%
65	Aida, Tomomi, Yoshimasa Ito, Yuko K. Takahashi, and Kohichi Tanaka. "Overstimulation of NMDA Receptors Impairs Early Brain Development in vivo", PLoS ONE, 2012. Publication	<1%
66	Joseph, Jacob, and Joseph Loscalzo. "Methoxistasis: Integrating the Roles of Homocysteine and Folic Acid in Cardiovascular Pathobiology", Nutrients, 2013. Publication	<1%
	Rongbao 7hao "Membrane transporters and	.1

67 Rongbao Zhao. "Membrane transporters and folate homeostasis: intestinal absorption and

<1%

#### transport into systemic compartments and tissues", Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine, 01/2009

Publication

68

Santos, Sofia Ferreira. "Impact of Biological sex in a Mouse Model of Autism Spectrum Disorder : Focus on Ultrasonic Vocalization Production", Universidade de Coimbra (Portugal), 2024 Publication

<1%

Exclude quotesOffExclude matchesOffExclude bibliographyOff